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INTRODUCTION

Based on Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 8, Defendants,! who are
Appellants in this Court, move this Court to stay the proceedings below. This case is
being appealed pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 16 because the district court refused to compel
arbitration in accordance with the arbitration agreements Plaintiffs signed with
Appellant Gospel for Asia, Inc. (“GFA”). Appellants filed a motion to stay further
proceedings pending appeal in the district court, which the district court denied. The
motion to stay was based both on the automatic stay recognized by the clear majority
of circuits and on Appellants’ request for a discretionary stay.

By denying Appellants’ motion for stay pending appeal, the district court has
signaled that it intends to allow the case to proceed while this Court determines
whether the case should be pursued in arbitration rather than in court.

Appellants are entitled to a stay because filing a notice of appeal “confers
jurisdiction on the court of appeals and divests the district court of its control over
those aspects of the case involved in the appeal.” Griggs v. Provident Consumer Disc. Co.,
459 U.S. 506, 58 (1982). The Federal Arbitration Act authorizes an immediate appeal
from an order denying a motion to compel arbitration. 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1)(A). The

very essence of an appeal under § 16 is the question whether the case should be

' Defendants are Gospel For Asia, Inc.,, Gospel for Asia-International, K.P.
Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat Emerick
(collectively, “Defendants”). Gospel for Asia-International does not currently exist.

1
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litigated in district court. “Continuation of proceedings in the district court largely
defeats the point of the appeal and creates a risk of inconsistent handling of the case
by two tribunals.” Bradford-Scott Data Corp. v. Physician Computer Network, Inc., 128 F.3d
504, 505 (7th Cir. 1997). The majority of circuits have held that a stay of proceedings
in the district court pending an appeal under § 16 is mandatory. See Levin v. Alms &
Assocs., Ine., 634 F.3d 260, 263, 266 (4th Cir. 2011); Ebleiter v. Grapetree Shores, Inc., 482
F.3d 207, 215 n.6 (3d Cir. 2007); McCauley v. Halliburton Energy Servs., Inc., 413 F.3d
1158, 1160-63 (10th Cir. 2005); Blinco v. Green Tree Servicing, I.I.C, 366 F.3d 1249, 1251-
53 (11th Cir. 2004); Bombardier Corp. v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp., No. 02-7125, 2002
WL 31818924, at *1 (D.C. Cir. Dec. 12, 2002); Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 505-07.
Regardless whether a stay is mandatory, Appellants are entitled to a stay in this
case. This case meets all the criteria for a discretionary stay. See Hilton v. Braunskill,
481 U.S. 770, 776 (1987). Plaintiffs Matthew and Jennifer Dickson (“the Dicksons”)
both signed arbitration agreements with GFA that the district court admitted were
“broad.” Doc. 23-4. The arbitration agreements require arbitration of “all disputes of
any kind arising out of the relationship between [the named plaintiff] and GFA.”
Doc. 23 at 3. Appellants will be irreparably harmed if they are denied the benefit of
their arbitration agreement by being forced to litigate pending this appeal. Bradford—
Scott, 128 F.3d at 506. The Dicksons will suffer no material harm from having the

litigation stayed; the district court agreed they would not be harmed by a “short stay.”
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Doc. 39 at 4. Finally, federal policy under the FAA strongly supports granting a stay
to protect the right to arbitration.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In February 2016, the Dicksons filed their putative nationwide class action
complaint alleging violations of the Federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968. Doc. 1 at ] 55-61. Plaintiffs
also asserted claims for fraud, violations of the Arkansas Deceptive Trade Practices
Act, and unjust enrichment. Doc. 1 at 9 62-77.

Both Matthew and Jennifer Dickson were members of GFA and Matthew
Dickson is a former GFA employee. Doc. 23 at 9 2-3 & Ex. 1, Carroll Dec. 9 3, 5.
In connection with Matthew Dickson’s employment and the Dicksons’ membership
in GFA, they signed Statements of Agreement (“Agreements”) containing an
arbitration provision. Doc. 23 at 9 2-4 & Ex. 1, Carroll Dec. ] 3, 5, Exs. 1-A, 1-B,
1-C. Those Agreements provide: “[A]ny and all disputes of any kind arising out of
the relationship between myself and GFA, or any other GFA member, shall be
resolved by way of conciliation, or mediation, the parties agreeing that the matter will
be submitted to final and binding arbitration in accordance with the rules and

procedures set forth in the Unified Arbitration Act.””> Doc. 23 at 5. On April 15,

2 The district court held the reference to the Unified Arbitration Act was a scrivener’s
error and that the reference should have been to the Uniform Arbitration Act. Doc.
39 at 3 n.1.
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2016, Appellants moved pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 1 ¢# seg. to compel arbitration and to
stay these proceedings pursuant to the Agreements. Doc. 23.

On January 18, 2017, the district court issued an order denying Appellants’
motion to compel arbitration (“Order”). Doc. 39. Even though the Agreements
provide that “the parties” agree disputes will be submitted to arbitration, the district
court held there was “no mutual obligation to arbitrate.” Id. at 4. Further, the district
court found the arbitration agreement was “broad” but nevertheless held that the
Dicksons’ claims did not fall within the scope of the arbitration agreement. Id. at 4-5.

On January 25, 2017, Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal of the Order
pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1) of the Federal Arbitration Act. Doc. 40. That statute
provides for an immediate appeal as of right from “an order . . . refusing a stay of any
action under [9 US.C. § 3]” or “denying a petition under [9 US.C. § 4] to order
arbitration to proceed.” 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1); see Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle, 556
U.S. 624, 627 (2009). On that same day, Appellants filed in the district court a motion
to stay proceedings pending appeal. Doc. 41. Appellants urged the district court that
it had been divested of jurisdiction over the question on appeal—which was whether
the case should have been filed in court or whether it should proceed in arbitration.
Doc. 42 at 1-6. In the alternative, Appellants requested a discretionary stay. Id. at 6-8.

On February 8, 2017, the district court denied Appellants’ motion to stay.
Doc. 49. The district court determined that this Court would not agree with the clear

majority of circuits deciding that district court proceedings are automatically stayed

4
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when an appeal is filed from the denial of a motion to arbitrate. Id. at 3. The district

court also decided the applicable factors weighed in favor of denying a stay. Id. at 5.

ARGUMENT

A.  The notice of appeal automatically transferred jurisdiction to this Court
and divested the district court of jurisdiction

When Defendants filed their notice of appeal, it had the effect of divesting the
district court of jurisdiction. It is “generally understood that a federal district court
and a federal court of appeals should not attempt to assert jurisdiction over a case
simultaneously.” Griggs, 459 U.S. at 58. Accordingly, upon the filing of a notice of
appeal, jurisdiction moves to the court of appeals and the district court is divested “of
its control over those aspects of the case involved in the appeal.” Id. This Court has
observed the Griggs rule serves two purposes. U.S. v. Ledbetter, 882 F.2d 1345, 1347
(8th Cir. 1989). The rule: (1) “promotes judicial economy for it spares a trial court
from considering and ruling on questions that possibly will be mooted by the decision
of the court of appeals”; and (2) “promotes fairness to the parties who might
otherwise have to fight a confusing ‘two front war’ for no good reason.” Id. (internal
citation omitted).

Six circuits hold that an appeal of a decision denying arbitration triggers a
mandatory stay of proceedings in the district court. See Levin, 634 F.3d at 263, 266
(4th Cir.); Ebleiter, 482 F.3d at 215 n.6 (3d Cir.); McCanley, 413 F.3d at 1160-63 (10th

Cit.); Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1251-53 (11th Cir.); Bombardier Corp., 2002 WL 31818924, at
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*1 (D.C. Cir.); Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 505-07 (7th Cit.); see also Lummus Co. v.
Commonwealth Oil Ref. Co, 273 F.2d 613, 614 (Ist Cir. 1959) (under the predecessor
doctrine to a § 16 appeal, the court imposed a blanket stay on further proceedings in
the district court pending an appeal from an order staying arbitration). The question
in the appeal is whether the case should be litigated at all. As a consequence, the
entire case is “involved in the appeal.” Griggs, 459 U.S. at 58.

Griggs controls because “[w]hether the case should be litigated in the district
court is not an issue collateral to the question presented by an appeal under §
16(2)(1)(A),” but rather “is the mirror image of the question presented on appeal.”
Bradford-Scort, 128 F.3d at 505. “Whether the litigation may go forward in the district
court is precisely what the court of appeals must decide.” Id. at 506. “[T]he
underlying reasons for allowing immediate appeal of a denial of a motion to compel
arbitration are inconsistent with continuation of proceedings in the district court.”
Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1252. “[Clombining the costs of litigation and arbitration is what
lies in store if a district court continues with the case while an appeal under § 16(a) is
pending.”  Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 506. Accordingly, appeals from refusals to
compel arbitration are “poor candidates for exceptions to the principle that a notice
of appeal divests the district court of power to proceed with the aspects of the case
that have been transferred to the court of appeals.” Id.

A minority of the circuits conclude that an appeal from the denial of a motion

to compel arbitration does not mandate that the underlying action is stayed. Instead,

6
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those courts of appeals hold that the stay is discretionary. See Weingarten Realty Investors
v. Miller, 661 F.3d 904, 907-08 (5th Cir. 2011); Motorola Credit Corp. v. Uzan, 388 F.3d
39, 53-54 (2d Cir. 2004); Britton v. Co-0p Banking Grp., 916 F.2d 1405, 1412 (9th Cir.
1990). Those courts reason that “[a]n appeal of a denial of a motion to compel
arbitration does not involve the merits of the claims pending in the district court.”
Weingarten, 661 F.3d at 909. This overlooks the entire reason for the appeal, which is
to determine the fundamental question whether the claims should be litigated in the
district court at all. Bradford-Scort, 128 F.3d at 505.

The courts taking the minority view also fear that cases may be stalled by
trivolous appeals. See Britton, 916 F.2d at 1412. But, if an appellee believes the appeal
is frivolous, it “may ask the court of appeals to dismiss the appeal as frivolous or to
affirm summarily.”  Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 506. Here, in denying the stay, the
district court itself agreed the appeal in this case “is not clearly frivolous.” Doc. 49 at
3. Accordingly, the mandatory stay should apply to this appeal.

The district court sided with the minority courts and opined this Court would
do likewise. Doc. 49 at 3. The district court stated its belief that the arbitration
question before this Court in the appeal is severable from the merits. Id. It made that
statement without acknowledging that the entire question on appeal is whether the
case should proceed in the district court at all. See 7. at 2-3.

The district court appeared to believe the Supreme Court held that arbitration

proceedings are “severable from the merits” of any underlying dispute so that no

7
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district court proceeding would be automatically stayed because of an appeal from an
order denying arbitration. Doc. 49 at 3 (quoting Moses H. Cone Men:’l Hosp. v. Mercury
Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 21 (1983)). That is not a correct reading of Moses H. Cone. In
Moses H. Cone a federal district court stayed a parallel federal action in deference to a
state court case. 460 U.S. at 7. The state court had refused to enforce an arbitration
provision between two of the parties. Id. at 7. The Supreme Court held the federal
district court erred in staying its hand in the arbitrability dispute. Id. at 22-23. The
defendant argued the state court action involved an additional party with which it did
not have an arbitration agreement. Id. at 20-21. That did not matter to the Supreme
Court. It held that the federal court could rule on the arbitrability issue even if the
state court would be proceeding with the non-arbitrable portions of the case. Id. It
was in that context that the Moses H. Cone court drew a distinction between the
arbitration question and the state court allowing litigation to proceed between the
other parties who did not have arbitration agreements. That was what the Supreme
Court found was a severable matter.

The better rule is the one adopted by the majority of the circuits. Griggs said
that the filing of an appeal “divests the district court of its control over those aspects
of the case involved in the appeal . . ..” 459 US. at 58. The majority of circuits
recognize that the appellate question before this Court is whether the case should
have been filed in court at all. “Arbitration clauses reflect the parties’ preference for

non-judicial dispute resolution . . ..” Bradford-Scott, 128 F. 3d at 506. It is the “worst
8
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possible outcome” if the parties have to litigate the case only to have the court of
appeals reverse and order arbitration. Id4. This Court should not be deciding whether
this case was propetly filed in a court at the same time the court below is proceeding
with the case as if the case were propetly before it.

Under similar circumstances, this Court has held that Griggs requires a stay
when an interlocutory appeal involves qualified immunity. See Jobnson v. Hay, 931 F.2d
456, 459 n.2 (8th Cir. 1991). Courts have found “intetlocutory appeals on the basis of
the denial of qualified immunity” to be “similar to § 16(a) appeals” because “the
failure to grant a stay pending either type of appeal results in a denial or impairment

b

of the appellant’s ability to obtain its legal entitlement to avoidance of litigation . . . .
McCanley, 413 F.3d at 1162; accord Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1252,

This Court should hold, like the clear majority of the circuit courts, that an
appeal from an order refusing to compel arbitration divests the district court of
jurisdiction and automatically stays the case while the appeal is pending.

B. In the alternative, this Court should grant a discretionary stay

1. This Court and the courts within this circuit typically grant stays
pending the appeal of an order refusing to compel arbitration

Without specifying whether the stays were mandatory or discretionary, this
Court has frequently granted stays of district court proceedings when a party appeals
from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration. As this Court pointed out years

ago:
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We have, on numerous occasions, entertained motions to stay

proceedings in the district court pending appeal of a district court’s

determination of arbitrability.  See, e.g, Flink v. Carlson, 856 F.2d 44, 47

(8th Cir. 1988); Cox v. Piper, Jaffray & Hopwood, Inc., 848 F.2d 842, 843

(8th Cir. 1988); Brotherhood of Painters v. Lord & Burnbham Constr. Corp., 705

F.2d 998, 999 n. 1 (8th Cir. 1983); see also S & M Constructors, Inc. v. Foley

Co., 959 F.2d 97 (8th Cir.) (granting oral argument on a motion for a stay

of arbitration pending appeal), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 863, 113 S.Ct. 184,

121 L.Ed.2d 129 (1992).
Ritzel Comme’ns, Ine. v. Mid-Am. Cellular Tel. Co., 989 F.2d 966, 970 (1993). This Court
has continued granting stays in arbitration appeals in more recent years. See Order
dated Dec. 2, 2015 in Mel eod v. Gen. Mills, Inc., No. 15-3540 (8th Cir. argued Nov. 10,
2016) (granting stay following district court’s denial of stay pending § 16 appeal);
Minute Order dated Dec. 23, 2005 in Sadler v. Green Tree Servicing, 1.I.C, No. 05-3850,
466 F.3d 623 (8th Cir. 20006) (granting appellant’s motion for stay of district court
proceedings pending appeal and denying appellees’ motion for permission to proceed
with discovery); Minute Order dated April 5, 2000 in Larry’s United Super, Inc. v.
Werries, No. 99-3202, 253 F.3d 1083 (8th Cir. 2001) (granting appellants’ motion to
stay district court proceedings).

The district courts within this circuit have followed suit: they generally stay the

underlying proceeding while an appeal of an adverse arbitrability decision is pending

in this Court.” In denying the stay, the district court in this case relied on a decision

> The following courts have held the stay is mandatory: Messina v. N. Cent. Distrib., Inc.,
No. 14-CV-3101 (PAM/SER), 2015 WL 4479000, at *2 (D. Minn. July 22, 2015);
Unison Co. v. Jubl Energy Dev., Inc., No. 13-3342 ADM/]JK, 2014 WL 2565652, at *2-3
(D. Minn. June 6, 2014); Wells Enters., Inc. v. Olympic Ice Cream, No. 11-CV-4109-DEO,

10
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from the district of Minnesota that refused a stay pending an arbitrability appeal.
Doc. 49 at 2 (citing Mcl_eod v. Gen. Mills, Inc., No. Civ. 15-494 (JRT/HB), 2015 WL
7428548, at *1-3 (D. Minn. Nov. 20, 2015)). Less than two weeks after the Mcl eod
district court denied a stay, this Court granted one. Order dated Dec. 2, 2015 in
Ml eod v. Gen. Mills, Inc., No. 15-3540 (8th Cir. argued Nov. 16, 2016).

2. This case supports the grant of a discretionary stay

A discretionary stay requires the Court to consider four factors:

(1) whether the stay applicant has made a strong showing that he is likely
to succeed on the merits; (2) whether the applicant will be irreparably
injured absent a stay; (3) whether issuance of the stay will substantially
injure the other parties interested in the proceeding; and (4) where the
public interest lies.

Hilton, 481 U.S. at 776. A stay is granted when the appeal presents “serious” legal
issues and the balance of equities favors the stay applicant. See James River Flood Control

Ass’n v. Watt, 680 F.2d 543, 545 (8th Cir. 1982).

2013 WL 11256860, at *6-8 (N.D. lowa Jan. 31, 2013); Indus. Wire Prods., Inc. v. Costco
Wholesale Corp., No. 4:08-CV-70 CAS, 2008 WL 2906716, at *1 (E.D. Mo. July 24,
2008); Koch v. Compucredit Corp., No. 4:06-CV-00660-WRW, 2007 WL 1793560, at *1
(E.D. Ark. June 19, 2007); Express Scripts, Inc. v. Aegon Direct Mktg. Servs., Inc., No. 4:06-
CV-1410 CAS, 2007 WL 1040938, at *3 (E.D. Mo. Apr. 3, 2007); Enderlin v. XM
Satellite Radio Holdings, Inc., No. 4:06-CV-0032 GTE, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78083, at
*2-3 (E.D. Ark. Oct. 24, 2006). The following courts have granted stays without
indicating whether the stay is mandatory or discretionary: |.D. Fields & Co. v. Nucor-
Yamato Steel Co., Case No. 4:12-CV-00754-KGB, at *1 (E.D. Ark. Feb. 2, 2016); Union
Elec. Co. v. Aegis Energy Syndicate 1225, No. 4:12CV877 JCH, 2012 WL 4936572, at *1-2
(E.D. Mo. Oct. 17, 2012).

11
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a. The appeal presents serious legal issues and is likely to
succeed

In deciding whether to enforce an arbitration agreement, courts engage in a
two-prong analysis: (1) whether a valid agreement to arbitrate exists between the
parties, and (2) whether the specific dispute falls within the scope of that agreement.
See Lyster v. Ryan’s Family Steak Houses, Inc., 239 F.3d 943, 945 (8th Cir. 2001).

There is no question that the Agreements with GFA contain arbitration clauses
calling for the arbitration of “any and all disputes of any kind arising out of the
relationship between [the named plaintiffs] and GFA.” Doc. 23 at § 5. The
Agreements are subject to Texas law. Plaintiffs signed and performed the
Agreements in Texas, where Plaintiffs lived as members of the GFA community until
2012. Id. at Ex. 1, Carroll Dec. § 5. Accordingly, Texas law applies to the
Agreements. See, e.g., Maxfield v. Estate of Maxfield, No. CA 87-373, 1988 WL 30197, at
*2 (Ark. Ct. App. Mar. 30, 1988); Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 188
cmt. f (Am. Law. Inst. 1971).

The district court concluded that the arbitration agreements lacked mutuality of
obligation and that this case did not fall within the scope of the agreements. Doc. 39
at 3-5. Both these conclusions are incorrect and there are at least “serious” legal
questions concerning the district court’s ruling.

First, there is a mutuality of obligation. The mutuality of obligation flows from

the arbitration provision’s language that “#he parties agreeing that the matter will be

12
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submitted to final and binding arbitration . . . .” Doc. 23 at § 5 (emphasis added).
That language does not establish a unilateral agreement as the district court assumed.
Instead, the language is a mutual promise to arbitrate the parties’ disputes because
both parties agreed to arbitration. Mutual promises to arbitrate constitute sufficient
consideration to make an arbitration agreement enforceable. [ .M. Davidson, Inc. v.
Webster, 128 S.W.3d 223, 228 (Tex. 2003). And the fact Appellants did not sign the
documents does not make the arbitration agreement any less valid or binding. I re
AdpancePCS Health L.P., 172 S.W.3d 603, 606 (Tex. 2005) (“[N]either the FAA nor
Texas law requires that arbitration clauses be signed, so long as they are written and
agreed to by the parties.”).

Moreover, there was further consideration supporting the agreement to
arbitrate. As a result of signing the Agreements containing the arbitration provision,
the Dicksons received training and favorable tax treatment exempting them from
paying certain taxes. Doc. 23 at Ex. 1, Carroll Dec. 9 3, 7-8. The reason the
Dicksons received favorable tax treatment was because they were members of GFA
and the reason they were members of GFA is because they signed the Agreements.
Id. ““[A]rbitration clauses generally do not require mutuality of obligation so long as
adequate consideration supports the underlying contract.” In re Lyon Fin. Servs., Inc.,
257 S.W.3d 228, 233 (Tex. 2008). Even without mutuality of obligation, the
Agreements—which contain the arbitration provisions—enabled the Dicksons to

become members of the GFA religious order and, thus, avoid paying taxes. Doc. 23

13
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at Ex. 1, Carroll Dec. 9 3, 7-8. 'That alone is sufficient consideration to support the
arbitration agreement.

Second, this dispute falls within the scope of the arbitration agreement. There
is a “liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements . . ..” Moses H. Cone, 460
US. at 24. “[A]lny doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be
resolved in favor of arbitration . ...” Id. at 24-25. Plaintiffs sighed the Agreement as
a part of becoming members of the GFA religious order. Doc. 23 at Ex. 1, Carroll
Dec. Y 3-5, Exs. 1-A, 1-B, 1-C. In conjunction with joining the order, the Dicksons
agreed with GFA’s commitments for financially supporting national ministries in Asia.
Id. 'The Dicksons did, in fact, make such donations to GFA. Doc. 23 at Ex. 1, Carroll
Dec. § 6. This lawsuit addresses what Appellants did with donations received from
Plaintiffs and others. Doc. 1. In order to establish standing, the Dicksons lodged
complaints about what Appellants did with their specific donations. Doc. 1 § 42-45.
Plaintiffs describe making donations, their understanding of how the donations would
be used, and Appellants’ alleged failure to use the funds for the intended purpose. 1.

The arbitration agreement states the parties will arbitrate “any and all disputes
of any kind arising out of the relationship between myself and GFA ....” Doc. 23 at
9 5. The Dicksons’ relationship with GFA involved their financial support of national
ministries. They now complain about how their donations to GFA accomplishing
this support were purportedly used. This action falls within the scope of the broad

arbitration provision.

14
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Appellants have established that they are sufficiently likely to succeed on appeal
to warrant a stay of proceedings in the district court.

b. Appellants will be irreparably injured absent a stay

The issue at stake is the forum in which the parties have agreed to litigate any
disputes. Pursuant to their agreement, the parties chose to arbitrate, which (among
other things) is designed to be a quicker, cheaper forum for sorting through disputes.
To have to litigate in a district court only, months later, to begin again in arbitration is
a waste of both time and money. As this Court has said:

Orders denying arbitration do have an injunctive effect and have serious,

perhaps irreparable, consequences . . . . It has serious consequences

because of the irreparable harm that exists when arbitration is denied @b

nitio. 1f a party must undergo the expense and delay of trial before being

able to appeal, the advantages of arbitration—speed and economy—are
lost forever.

Conners v. Gusano’s Chicago Style Pizzeria, 779 F.3d 835, 839 (8th Cir. 2015) (quoting
Nordin v. Nutri/ System, Inc., 897 F. 2d 339, 342 (8th Cir. 1990)).

“By providing a party who seeks arbitration with swift access to appellate
review, Congress acknowledged that one of the principal benefits of arbitration,
avoiding the high costs and time involved in judicial dispute resolution, is lost if the
case proceeds in both judicial and arbitral forums.” Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1251. “If the
court of appeals reverses and orders the dispute arbitrated, then the costs of the
litigation in the district court incurred during appellate review have been wasted and

the parties must begin again in arbitration.” Id.

15
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The district court found this factor did not weigh in favor of a stay because the
case is still in the discovery phase. But this Court has previously granted a stay in
response to virtually identical reasoning from a district court refusing a stay. A district
court in Minnesota refused to stay an order compelling discovery of basic information
such as names, addresses, telephone numbers, and dates of employment because the
court concluded the information likely would be discoverable in arbitration. Bailey v.
Ameriguest Mortg. Co., No. CIV. 01-545 (JRT/FLN), 2002 WL 1835642, at *1 (D.
Minn. Aug. 5, 2002). But this Court issued a stay after the district court refused to do
so. Minute Order dated October 25, 2002 in Bailey v. Ameriquest Mortg. Co., No. 02-
1444, 346 F.3d 821 (8th Cir. 2003). If this case is subject to arbitration, it is for the
arbitrators to determine what discovery will take place.

This factor favors a stay.

c. The Dicksons will not be substantially injured by the stay

Even the district court acknowledged that a “short stay” would not harm
Plaintiffs. Doc. 49 at 4. The district court said that a longer stay would deprive the
Dicksons of a “timely resolution of the merits of their case.” Of course, Plaintiffs
could have been working toward a timely resolution of their claims for the past year
had they filed them in arbitration. It is the Dicksons’ efforts to avoid arbitration that
has elongated this phase of the case.

Plaintiffs’ allegations date back to 2003. Doc. 49 at 4. Matthew Dickson was

an employee of GFA from 2007 to 2012, and both plaintiffs were members of the
16
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GFA community during that same time. Doc. 23 at § 5. Yet they did not bring the
underlying action until 2016. Doc. 1. Plaintiffs do not suggest they are continuing to
make donations to GFA. Plaintiffs have not identified any substantive rights they will
lose if this case is stayed pending appeal. This factor favors a stay.

d.  The public interest supports a stay

There is a strong public policy favoring arbitration. ATe>T Mobility I.LC ».
Concepeion, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011). The Supreme Court has explained: “our cases
place it beyond dispute that the [Federal Arbitration Act] was designed to promote
arbitration.” Id. at 345. The arbitration act embodies a “national policy favoring
arbitration . . ..” Id. at 345-46 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). A stay
pending appeal will serve this public interest by promoting the federal policy
encouraging arbitration “as a means of securing ‘prompt, economical and adequate

5

solution of controversies.””  See Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/ American Express, Inc.,
490 U.S. 477, 479-80 (1989) (quoting Wilko v. Swan, 346 U.S. 427, 438 (1953)).

The district court acknowledged that the Federal Arbitration Act would favor a
stay if this case were subject to arbitration. But, because the district court decided
that issue against Appellants, it ruled that the “gravity of Plaintiffs’ allegations”
warrant the denial of a stay and voiced concern that a fraud may be continuing. Doc.
49 at 4.

If the concern is that these claims proceed immediately, the solution is for the

Plaintiffs to abide by their arbitration agreements. In any event, this case will go

17
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torward. The only question is what will be the forum. A stay pending the outcome of
the appeal will serve the public interest by preserving judicial resources and avoiding

duplication of effort.

CONCLUSION AND PRAYER

Appellants respectfully request a stay under Federal Rule of Appellate
Procedure 8 pending the outcome of this appeal. Appellants also request all further

relief to which they may have shown themselves entitled.

18
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ISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DIST ARKANSAS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FILED
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS FEB 0 8 2[]15

FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

MATTHEW DICKSON and
JENNIFER DICKSON, individually
and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,

PLAINTIFFS,
V.

GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.,

GOSPEL FOR ASIA-INTERNATIONAL,

K.P. YOHANNAN, GISELA
PUNNOSE, DANIEL PUNNOSE,
DAVID CARROLL, and

PAT EMERICK,

DEFENDANTS.

DOUGLAS F. YOUNG, Clerk

By Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. /é/ S'OQF? /D/&H

PLAINTIFFS’ ORIGINAL CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs Matthew Dickson and Jennifer Dickson, individually and on behalf of a

Class of similarly situated donors, allege:

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

. Soliciting charitable donations to benefit the poorest of the poor while

covertly diverting the money to a multi-million dollar personal empire is reprehensible;

using a Christian organization as a front to attract and exploit the goodwill and generosity

of devout Christians is a particularly vile scheme. But that is exactly what K.P. Yohannan

and the organization he controls—Gospel for Asia, Inc.—have been getting away with

for years. Yohannan and a handful of close associates have acquired hundreds of millions
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of dollars from tens of thousands of well-intentioned donors throughout the country;
donors who send money they are told will be used for very specific charitable purposes,
such as meals for impoverished, hungry children. In reality, Yohannan and his associates
divert much of this money and do with it as they please, using it to buy and run for-profit
businesses; to build an expensive, secluded headquarters and personal residences; to
sponsor an international sports team; and to speculate in financial markets. This case is

about ending this egregious abuse.

I1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) because the
Class consists of more than 100 members, the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or
value of five million dollars ($5,000,000.00) exclusive of recoverable interest and costs,
and minimal diversity exists. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 1964, and supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1367.

3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a
substantial part of the events and omissions giving rise to the claims of Plaintiffs and the
Class occurred in this District. Furthermore, venue is proper in this District because

Plaintiffs sent donations to Gospel for Asia, Inc. from their home in Rogers, Arkansas.

I11. PARTIES
4. Plaintiffs Matthew Dickson and Jennifer Dickson are individuals who are

married and who reside in Rogers, Arkansas. Mr. and Mrs. Dickson bring this action

2
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individually and as representatives of a Class of similarly situated donors.

3 Defendant Gospel for Asia, Inc. (also known as “GFA” or “GFA-USA”) is
incorporated under the laws of Texas with its headquarters in Wills Point, Texas. The U.S.
Internal Revenue Service currently recognizes GFA as both a 501(¢)(3) non-profit entity
and a “religious order.” GFA also has at least fourteen known affiliated limited liability
companies, all registered in Wills Point, TX, including “Road to Peace,” “Unconditional
Love,” and “Bridge Builders.” GFA has (or had) affiliated national offices in the United
Kingdom, Germany, South Africa, Australia, India, South Korea, Finland, New Zealand,
and Canada. Outside of the United States, GFA has its most significant presence in India,
where it facilitates activities primarily through four entities: Believers Church, Gospel for
Asia-India, Last Hour Ministries, and Love India Ministries. These four entities are each
incorporated in the Indian State of Kerala. Believers Church is presented to be an
Evangelical Christian religious organization that claims 2.6 million members, principally
in South Asia. Believers Church owns and operates a number of for-profit outfits in India,
including a rubber plantation, medical and engineering colleges, and a network of for-
profit primary schools. GFA and Believers Church are closely linked through funding
and purpose, and each is ultimately controlled by the same individual.

6. Defendant Gospel for Asia-International (or “GFA-International”) is
incorporated under the laws of Texas with its headquarters in Wills Point, Texas. It was
established as a joint venture of Defendant GFA and its Canadian and German affiliates.

7. Defendant Yohannan Kadappiliaril Punnose (also known as “K.P.”
Yohannan) is an individual who resides in Wills Point, Texas. Yohannan founded GFA in

1978 and has continuously served as a member of its Board of Directors, its President,

3
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and its International Director. Yohannan has travelled and spoken extensively, both
within the United States and internationally, on behalf of GFA and is the recognized
“face” of GFA throughout the world. Yohannan was also consecrated as the first
Metropolitan' of Believers Church in 2003, under the authority of the Church of South
India (part of the worldwide Anglican Communion). Yohannan has held the foregoing
positions at all times relevant to this lawsuit and continues in such positions as of filing.
In these positions, Yohannan is the central and principal actor in making the
misrepresentations and engaging in the fraud described in this Complaint, as Yohannan
directly controls or has ultimate authority over all aspects of GFA-USA, Gospel for Asia-
International, Gospel for Asia-India, Believers Church, and all affiliated national offices
of GFA. Yohannan has personal, direct access to finances of these entities, and, in his
role as Metropolitan Bishop of Believers Church, all Church property is titled in
Yohannan’s name. All mailings and solicitations for all Gospel for Asia entities are sent
out under Yohannan’s name and signature.

8. Defendant Gisela Punnose (also known as Gisela Yohannan) is an
individual who resides in Wills Point, Texas. She is married to K.P. Yohannan and is a
member of the Board of Directors of GFA. Gisela Punnose has been involved with GFA
since its inception and has represented GFA through appearances at Christian gatherings
in multiple countries and through four well-known books.

9. Defendant Daniel Punnose is an individual who resides in Wills Point,
Texas. He is the son of K.P. Yohannan and Gisela Punnose, is a member of the Board of

Directors of GFA, and serves as its Vice President. Punnose has travelled and appeared

'A Metropolitan is the position of highest and absolute authority within the organization,
analogous to the Pope of the Roman Catholic Church.

4
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extensively worldwide on behalf of GFA, including frequent speaking appearances

within the United States at conferences and churches.

10. Defendant David Carroll is an individual who resides in Wills Point,
Texas. Carroll serves GFA in multiple capacities, including Chief Financial Officer, and
is also responsible for the overall operations of the U.S. Headquarters of GFA in Wills
Point, Texas. Carroll has served with GFA since January 1992 and has since that time
presented the work and vision of GFA to churches and ministries across the United States.
Carroll has appeared on behalf of GFA in the media.

11.  Defendant Pat Emerick is an individual and a United States citizen who
resides in Ontario, Canada. Emerick serves as the Director of the Canadian affiliate of
GFA. Emerick is an ordained minister of Believers Church and has represented GFA on
numerous speaking engagements in the United States and internationally.

12. Defendants Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, Carroll, Emerick, and GFA-
International were aware of, and continue to be aware of, the misrepresentations and
fraudulent acts committed by Defendants K.P. Yohannan and GFA. Defendants Gisela
Punnose, Daniel Punnose, Carroll, Emerick, and GFA-International all provided material
assistance to Defendants K.P. Yohannan and GFA in committing the acts and omissions
set forth in this Complaint.

13. Defendants are sometimes referred to collectively throughout this
Complaint as “Defendants.”

14. Defendants conduct substantial business within Arkansas and throughout
the United States through the solicitation and collection of monetary donations to GFA.

Defendants have received donations through the “Arkansas to Asia with Love™

5
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fundraising campaign that challenged Arkansas residents to donate to GFA.” Defendants
and/or their agents have also made personal appearances and presentations in Arkansas

designed to promote GFA and solicit and collect donations.

IV. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
15, GFA is a global Christian missionary organization that operates in South
Asia, primarily within India. Through mail, radio, website, and in-person solicitations of
donations, GFA represents to potential donors that it funds indigenous community
development projects, provides desperately needed supplies and provisions to the poor,

and promotes a Christian message. Between 2007 and 2013, GFA has solicited over

!
$450,000,000 in donations from the United States alone, where the majority of GFA’s |
donors reside. Well over one million unique donations are made to GFA each year from

tens of thousands of donors who give one time or on a recurring, sponsorship basis. !
However, despite repeated, explicit guarantees from GFA to donors, only a fraction of the !
donated money supports the people and causes for which it was donated, as Defendants ;
redirect it for their own purposes. Significantly, the Evangelical Council for Financial |
Accountability (“ECFA™), a private oversight body that reviews the finances of Christian |

organizations that solicit charitable donations, decertified GFA in September of 2015

after investigating its finances. See generally Exhibit 1 hereto.

. i - i . = g .
“ See https://www.mygfa.org/arkansastoasiawithlove/#donations (last accessed January
28, 2016). Similar campaigns have been conducted in other states.

6
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A. GFA solicits money by promising to use 100% of it for donor-specified
purposes in the mission field

16.  GFA solicits donations through its website (www.GFA.org), mailed
solicitations, radio programming, and at in-person presentations. In its solicitations, GFA
relies on three main types of representations: (1) its “GFA 100% Guarantee™ that all
money donated “goes to the field” when the donor intends; (2) a purportedly urgent,
critical need for immediate donations; and (3) the donor’s ability to designate particular
projects or items and GFA’s commitment to honor the donor’s designations.

17.  GFA claims consistently that “100%" of what a donor gives for
development, relief, and sponsorship abroad will go “to the field.” GFA claims that the
GFA 100% Guarantee “has been our practice from the beginning,” and it places red,
stamp-like emblems boasting “100% Guarantee™ throughout GFA solicitations, as

illustrated in the following examples:

Financial Integrity

Gospel for Asia is firmly committed to good stewardship of the funds
entrusted to us by our friends and donors. We promise to use your gifts
wisely and effectively in Christ's name.

100% of what you give toward sponsorship goes to the field. This has been
our practice from the beginning. Find out how.

The 100% Guarantee appears throughout GFA's website (as of September 3, 2015). See
https://web.archive.org/web/2015090601215 7/http.://www.gta.org/about/financial-
integriny/,” last accessed February 2, 2016,

3 Prior versions of GFA webpages citing “web.archive.org” are viewable today at the
Internet Archive’s “Wayback Machine,” self-described as a “service that allows people to
visit archived versions of Web sites. Visitors to the Wayback Machine can type in a URL,
select a date range, and then begin surfing on an archived version of the Web.” See
https://archive.org/about/fags.php#The_Wayback_Machine, last accessed February 2,
2016.

7
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e

K.P. Yohannan
Founder & International Director of Gospel for Asia

100% of all donations preferenced for use on
the mission field is sent to the mission field.
Nothing is taken out for administrative expenses.

e —

The 100% Guarantee appears repeatedly in GFA’s printed 2015 “Christmas Catalog.”
Exhibit 2 hereto.

18.  As GFA explains on its website, “the Field” for which GFA solicits
charitable relief is a geographic concept, meaning the “10/40 Window” (the section of the
Eastern Hemisphere between 10 and 40 degrees north of the Equator; the countries in this
region face high levels of socioeconomic challenge and have low access to Christian
theology).” The 10/40 Window (and, thus, “the Field™) contains over 50 countries, not
including the United States. GFA-USA is termed the “Home Office,” such that the 100%
Guarantee explicitly states that donations for “the Field” will never be applied for
projects or needs within the United States, including GFA’s administrative or salary
expenses.

19.  Additionally, GFA further tells donors that the need for funding is “urgent”

* See http://www.gfa.org/about/what-we-do/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).

> See “I’ve read in many of your publications that 100% of the money I give for mission
work goes directly to the field. How does GFA raise enough money for administrative
needs?” and “How are GFA home team staff supported” on FAQs at
http://www.gfa.org/about/fags/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).

8
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to enable “critical” and “emergency” projects.’ Missionaries “have the opportunity to
change lives in Asia, but only for a short time”; they “just need your help” to begin their
fellowships among the unreached in Asia.” Hundreds of children are “awaiting”
donations to begin “today” for schooling, clothing, and care.® This sense of urgency is
intended to compel donors to act sooner and more often than they might otherwise, as

illustrated in the following examples:

A GFA “Emergency Gram” the Dicksons received in May 2015. Exhibit 3 hereto.

% See Exhibit 1 hereto at p.3, item 4 (“The level of urgency communicated in GFA donor
appeals contrasted with reserves held by foreign field partners and delays in sending
funding to the field.”).

7 See http://www.gfa.org/sponsor/ and http://www.gfa.org/sponsor/why-national-
missionaries/, respectively (last accessed February 1, 2016).

8 See http://www.gfa.org/sponsorachild/filter/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).

9
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997 children awaiting
sponsorship

Many of the 74 000 children in our
Bridge of Hope program are waiting
for permanent sponsors. Your
sponsorship today will help us
provide for them.

One hundred percent of
@ what you give for sponsorship

goes to the field. Nothing is

taken out for administrative

expenses.

A solicitation for child sponsorship on the GFA website (as of September 3, 2015). See
https://web.archive.org/web/2015090603245 I /http.//’www.gfa.org/sponsorachild/filter/
(last accessed February 2, 2016).

20.  Crucially, GFA promises, through mail solicitations and its website, to
apply donations only to the specific projects and items donors select. GFA sends out
monthly direct mail “campaign” solicitations, often tied to specific projects or items, such
as its “Sewing Machines Appeal” from April 2012 or the “Pure Water Appeal” from
August 2014, as well as occasional “Harvest” Newsletters and the “GFA World”
magazine, each of which solicit donations. The best example of GFA’s mail solicitation
effort is the “GFA Christmas Catalog,” an annual 15-20 page glossy with photos of
specific “gifts” that donors may provide to the needy to coincide with the holiday season.
Exhibit 2 hereto. Like the GFA Christmas Catalog, the GFA website (www.GFA.org)
lists dozens of items and services to support relief work and directly improve lives. For

example, GFA represents that a $12 donation will be applied toward the purchase of a

blanket for a family in need of warmth:

10
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Two blankets - $24
Five blankets - $60

158

The Weather Outside Is Frightful,
but This Blanket Is So Delightful

elp families survive harsh winters with a
cozy, warm blanket.

Solicitation of blankets for the needy in the 2015 “GFA Christmas Catalog.” Exhibit 2

hereto.

Blanket
$12

On those blustery winter nights during the winter
season, who doesn't like to curl up under a warm,
soft blanket? That's not possible for many
impoverished families in Asia. Many live in homes
that lack sufficient heat and protection against the
harsh winter elements. Your gift of $12 for a
blanket will provide much-needed warmth and

comfort.

$

My Donation

Solicitation of blankets for the needy on GFA.org. See

http:/’'www.gfa.org/donation/browse/items/joyv-of-work/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).

21.

GFA represents that a $345 donation will be applied toward the purchase

of a camel to facilitate commerce and provide food and clothing:

Appellate Case: 17-1191

Page: 43
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n some parts of South Asia, camels are used

for everything from plowing to transportation to
hauling goods. Camels can carry heavy loads across
soft desert sand. They provide milk, and camel wool
can even be woven into cloth.

-
-

LW W N

P L

%t

Solicitation of camels for the needy in the 2015 “GFA Christmas Catalog. " Exhibit 2

hereto.

Camels
$345 each

Camels feel right at home in Rajasthan, one of the
hottest and driest places in India. They can work
long hours in the heat with no problem and are
used for plowing, transportation and hauling
goods. Trucks quickly sink into sand. However,
camels can carry up to 330 pounds across a
desert with no problem. Camel milk is also part of
many diets in Rajasthan, and camel wool can
even be woven into cloth.

My Donation  $

Solicitation of camels for the needy on GFA.org. See

http:/hwww.gfa.org/donation/browse/items/from-the-stable/ (last accessed February 1,

2016).

GFA represents that a $1,200 donation will be applied toward the purchase

of a missionary’s motorcycle to facilitate a missionary’s outreach:

Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 44
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-

missionary and a motorcycle make
a productive duo. When you've
got many distant villages to reach,
getting there quickly is crucial!

Solicitation of motorcycles for missionaries in the 2015 “GFA Christmas Catalog.”
Exhibit 2 hereto.

Motorbike
$1200

Motorbikes can carry two national missionaries at
a time! A motorbike is an extremely useful and
time-saving tool, especially in hilly areas where
pedalling a bicycle is difficult. The cost of a
motorbike is $1,200.

See the Impact in Asia

My Donation §

Solicitation of motorbikes for the missionaries on GFA.org. See
http://www.gla.org/donation/browse/items/tools-for-missionaries/ (last accessed
February 2, 2016).

23.  GFA also offers a specific donation option for the “Home Team” to defray
costs of GFA’s U.S. administration and staff salaries. This option would, if realized, give

effect to GFA’s claimed distinction between donations “to the Field™ and for the “Home

Team™ and the applicability of the GFA 100% Guarantee to the former:

13
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Home Team Staff $ [ Add |

Learn More ~

Training and sending out missionaries, equipping them with the
necessary tools and helping them establish churches wouldn't be
possible without Gospel for Asia's home team staff. Each person
on our staff has been called by God to work behind the scenes,
serving both the national missionaries in Asia and the Body of
Christ in the West. More than just a job, their work is a ministry that
affects eternity.

Solicitation for Home Team support on GFA.org. See
http:/www.gfa.org/donation/browse/items/where-most-needed/ (last accessed February 1,

2016).

What does the mission T

field need the most? Field {
Ministries
$

We are often asked what the mission field

needs the most. You can give our brothers e
and sisters on the mission field the flexibility 4800
to use your gift for needs that they don’t have
enough funds for by donating toward “Field
Ministries.” You'll meet high-priority needs, and )
many will be blessed! ‘lk

Solicitation specific to “the Field” in the 2015 “GFA Christmas Catalog.” Exhibit 2
hereto.

24, Once the donor has selected the items she wishes to provide, she either
copies each item’s designation code to a pledge card or, through the website, adds the
item to her “cart,” no different from the experience of shopping with a major retailer. She
receives a donation receipt from GFA expressing gratitude for the gift and indicating the
specific amounts designated for each specific project or item (including the designation
code on the receipt), often repeating the “GFA 100% Guarantee,” as shown in the

following example:

14
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W ORETURN tha porrson with war nexa gl www gla oy Lk ecks payabile to Comgped for A For credin card or bank debit

Commitments as of December 31, 2013 Your Next Gift

Commitment Code Amount Gift Preference Amaount Enclosed
Sotesh Hembirom 129294 10.00 /mo* s 80,00 5
Hita Basumatary 138972 W00 mo® eem hh Reedbed PR £
Som Kouman T4 00084 28 00 /'mo
Pupa Hembwom 10101908 28.00 /mo Wom )
Sakihivel 103R1071 58 38 00 /mo Ol
Current Month Total S04

Total Gilt Enclosed §

Matthew and Jennifer Dickson: 11616684
oo il pimgn

An example receipt GFA sent the Dicksons; note documentation of donor’s designations
s “Commitments” by name and GFA's designation code. The 100% Guarantee is at the
bottom of this receipt (Exhibit 4 hereto).

25.  Inaddition to providing a portal for donations, GFA’s website is a
repository for promotional and explanatory materials and GFA’s policy documents. The
website answers frequently asked questions, and offers descriptions of “Who We Are™”’
and ways for the faithful to “Pray”'” for GFA, among other topics. This information is
readily available to donors who visit the website (which is also referenced in nearly all
mail solicitations).

26. In mid-September of 2015, GFA updated the “Financial Integrity” section
of its website to reflect its loss of membership in ECFA. At this time, GFA also altered
its explanation of the 100% Guarantee, the hallmark pledge it had made to donors “since

the beginning of the ministry.” The initial boast of the 100% Guarantee remained exactly

the same after the mid-September 2015 alterations:

? See http://www.gla.org/about/who-we-are/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).

' See http://www.gfa.org/pray/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).
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rrduson B0 GFASwm | Comoc | My Account | searcn

NG GOSPELFORASIA = usa

3

About Media/News Get Invoived Pray Sponsorship Donate/Ways to Give Free Resources
noWe Are . WhatWeDo  KP Yohannan  Financial Integrity  Endorsements
Financial Integrity

Gospel for Asia is firmiy committed to good stewardship of the funds
entrusted to us by our friends and donors. We promise o use your gifts
wisely and effectively in Chnist's name.

100% of what you give toward sponsorship goes to the field. This has been
our practice from the beginning. Find out how.

The initial presentation of the 100% Guarantee in the “Financial Integrity” section of
P grit )

GFA's website (as of September 3, 2015).

integrity/ (last accessed February 2, 2016).

/&, GOSPEL FORASIA == ysa~ g 7
h\f == USA Fnduson A Grasom | Comact | MyAccoumt [ | searen

About  Media/News Get Involved Pray  Sponsorship Donate/Ways to Give Free Resources

Financial Integrity More Info. ¥

Financial Integrity

Gospel for Asia is firmly committed to good stewardship
of the funds entrusted to us by our friends and donors.
We promise to use your gifts wisely and effectively in
Christ's name.

100% of what you give toward sponsorship goes to the
field. This has been our practice from the beginning.

Filed 02/08/16 Page 16 of 43 PagelD #: 16

The exact same initial presentation of the 100% Guarantee in the “Financial Integrity”
section of GFA'’s current website. See hitp://www.gfa.org/about/financial-integritv/ (last

27.

accessed February 1, 2016).

But GFA revised its explanation of the 100% Guarantee by adding the

following wholly new verbiage: “We are committed to honoring your gift preferences,

however, occasionally we receive more contributions for a given project than can be

Appellate Case: 17-1191
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wisely applied to that project. When this happens we use the funds to meet a similar

pressing need.” The following two screenshots from GFA’s website illustrate the change:

100% to the Field

Since the ministry began, we have sent 100% percent of what you give toward sponsoring a
missionary or child to the field.

One hundred percent of contributions for use on the mission field are sent to the nations we
serve and we have trusted the Lord to provide for our overhead costs.

At the same time, we do our part to keep these expenses very low. For instance, our home office
staff members raise their own financial support, which covers their salary and benefits, helping
keep our overhead costs at a minimum.

Our administrative costs are covered through donations designated "Home Office™ or sometimes
"Where Most Needed”". The Lord has been faithful to meet our every need for over 30 years, and
we give Him glory and thanks.

The explanation of the 100% Guarantee in the “Financial Integrity” section of GFA'’s
website (as of September 3, 2015). See
https://web.archive.org/web/20150906012157/http.//www.gfa.org/about/financial-
integritv/ (last accessed February 2, 2016).

100% to the Field

100% of all donations preferenced for use on the mission field are sent to
the mission field. Contributions are income tax deductible to the extent
allowed by law, and are made with the understanding that Gospel for Asia
has complete discretion and control over the use of all donated funds. We
are committed to honoring your gift preferences, however, occasionally we
receive more contributions for a given project than can be wisely applied to
that project. When this happens we use the funds to meet a similar
pressing need.

The revised explanation of the 100% Guarantee in the “Financial Integrity " section of
GFA'’s current website. See hitp://www.gfa.org/about/financial-integrity/ (last accessed
February 1, 2016).

B. After it receives money, GFA diverts and misdirects the majority of it

28.  GFA claims to be a 501(c)(3) non-profit entity and a “religious order”

recognized by the Internal Revenue Service (under IRS Rev. Proc. 91-20, 1991-1 C.B.

(]
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524, Sec. 3),' and it therefore is not required to publish its financial statements (IRS
Form 990) as is otherwise required of a 501(c)(3). In India, however, as a foreign charity,
GFA is required to publicly account for all funds it spends in the country, pursuant to the
Indian Foreign Contribution Regulation Act of 2010. Financial analysis of the reports
submitted to the Indian Government (“FC-6 forms™) for Believers Church, Gospel for
Asia-India, and the related limited liability companies Last Hour Ministries and Love
India Ministries demonstrates just how little of the money GFA sends to India is actually
spent on the projects and items U.S. donors designated. See generally Exhibits 1, 5, and 6
hereto.

29. For example, in 2013 (the most recent year for which audited financial
data 1s available), GFA worldwide collected around $115,000,000 in donations (more
than $90 million from the U.S.), but spent only $14,644,642 on services and relief under
GFA’s mission to support the poor and needy of India—directly contrary to donor
designations and GFA’s promises. Here is an overview of what GFA did with donated
money in 2013 (as an example of its practices), derived from internal GFA financial
documents and FC-6 forms:

* GFA’s national offices in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom,

Australia, New Zealand, and Germany dispersed a total of approximately $118.6

million in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013."* Of this $118.6 million:

"' See http://www.gfa.org/sponsor/search/ and “I hear GFA is a religious order. What
does that mean?” answered at http://www.gfa.org/about/faqs/, last accessed February 1,
2016.

"2 Rounding and currency conversions may account for slight variations in totals
presented, but tabulations of exact figures based on GFA’s internal and/or audited
amounts and official Indian public records GFA affiliates provided to the Indian
Government pursuant to Indian law are attached as Exhibits 5 and 6 hereto.

18
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o $37.8 million was spent on the administrative needs of the various national
offices (GFA spent $24.3 million of this on the continuing construction of
GFA’s headquarters in Wills Point).

o $76.3 million was provided to Gospel for Asia-International ($58,482,900
from GFA-USA; $11.4 million from GFA-Canada; and $1 million from
GFA-Germany).

o GFA-UK, GFA-New Zealand, and GFA-Australia sent a combined $5.3
million directly to GFA affiliates in India (as reflected on FC-6 forms).

* Of'the $76.3 million GFA-International received from GFA entities in the United
States, Canada, and Germany, almost $43 million went missing, no longer
accounted for in GFA financial documents nor received in India per FC-6 forms.

* The four Indian-based GFA affiliates (GFA-India, Believers Church, Love India
Ministries, and Last Hour Ministries) declared receipt of $33.6 million from
foreign sources. Just $28.3 million was declared to have come from the U.S.,
Canada, and Germany through GFA-International; the United Kingdom, Australia,
and New Zealand had sent the balance directly to these GFA affiliates.

o To this received total of $33.6 million, the four Indian-based GFA
affiliates added an existing bank balance of more than $170 million and
annual interest earned of more than $14 million. This provided these four
GFA-affiliates with more than $215 million available to spend.

o However, of this $215 million cash-on-hand, almost $15 million would
depreciate due to currency fluctuations and the GFA affiliates closed the

year with almost $150 million still in their bank accounts. This left the

19
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four GFA affiliates 2013 spending total at $54.5 million, as reflected
through the combined FC-6 forms.
o Of this $54.5 million total:
= $9.2 million was spent on Field administrative expenses.
= $14.7 million was spent on the purchase and/or construction of the
for-profit Believers Church Hospital.
= $15.7 million was spent on Believers Church salaries and overhead.
o Only $14.9 million was spent on all direct relief to the poor and needy

of India. This included (as described on Indian FC-6 forms) just:

$6.3 million on “welfare of children” (also known as

GFA’s “Bridge of Hope™);

* $5.8 million on “religious schools/education of priests and
preachers”™ (also known as GFA’s “National Missionaries”
sponsorships);

* §1.4 million on “digging of bore wells™ (also known as
GFA’s “Jesus Wells™);

*  $0.5 million on “relief/rehabilitation of victims of natural
calamities” (also known as GFA’s “disaster relief” fund):
and

*  $436.00 on “welfare of the aged/widows™ and $0.00

“welfare of the orphans” (also known as GFA’s “Widows

and Orphans” fund).

30.  Thus, despite GFA’s explicit representations that it would spend in the

20
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field 100% of every dollar donors designated for the field, GFA spent only $14.9 million
of $118.6 million on actual relief efforts, instead spending far more on salaries and
overhead for Believers Church and construction of the GFA Headquarters in Wills Point,
Texas. The following three examples further illustrate particular ways in which GFA

misdirected funds designated by donors for specific purposes:

1. GFA misdirected money designated for Bridge of Hope
31.  GFA advertises that through its “Bridge of Hope” program it will provide
a child in India with “Jesus’ love; quality education; a daily meal; and medical care” in
exchange for a monthly pledge of $35." Bridge of Hope is one of GFA’s most popular
donation options, receiving millions of dollars annually from tens of thousands of donors

in the United States, many of whom sponsor multiple children over multiple years:

Hfi:_}i:)'ﬁ’&i FORASIA m8usa- Fiduson B0 Geasum | Comac | Mymeesuw [ | sean
5

About Media/News Get Involved Pray Sponsorship Donate/Ways to Give Free Resources

Bridge of Hope What vou Provide Whoa are the Children Choose a Child Write Your Chitd ~§J

You can help change the life of a child. It only takes $35 a month

to give a child a quality education, a daily meal and regular ° :.w:nrfm’::m =4
medical checkups through Bridge of Hope. Even more, your support your child
sponsored child will learn about and experience Jesus’ love at

the Bridge of Hope center.

Bridge of Hope sponsorship information from GFA's website (as of September 3, 2015).
See hitps.//web.archive.org/web/2015090603245 I/http:/ www.gfa.org/sponsorachild/filter/
(last accessed February 2, 2016).

32.  However, per GFA documents, in FYE 2014 the actual cost to support a

1 See hitp://www.gfa.org/sponsorachild/filter/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).
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child in Bridge of Hope was less than INR 500 (roughly $8.20) per month."* In 2013,
GFA received over $15 million in donations specifically designated for “Bridge of Hope,”

but spent only $6.3 million on “child welfare.”

2 GFA misdirected money designated for Jesus Wells

33.  GFA represents that it constructs “Jesus Wells” to provide clean, potable
water to underserved villages in India. In 2012, GFA collected more than $3.5 million in
donations designated for Jesus Wells, but spent only $500,000 on that project. In 2013,
GFA collected more than $4 million in donations designated for Jesus Wells, but spent
only $700,000 on that project. Accepting GFA’s representation that it is able to drill a
well for only $1,400," in real terms, this discrepancy between donations received and
money spent in India means that in 2012 GFA received funding sufficient to establish at
least 2,500 wells, but its actual spending in India was sufficient to establish only 350
wells, while in 2013, GFA received funding for at least 2,800 wells, but only spent

enough in India for 500 wells.

3. GFA misdirected money designated for orphans and widows
34.  Between 2010 and 2013, GFA collected more than $4.2 million dollars
designated by donors to support “Widows and Abandoned Children.” During that time,

GFA, per disclosures on FC-6 forms, spent only $31,265 for the welfare of widows, and

"* Warren Throckmorton, “How Much Does it Really Cost to Sponsor a Child with
Gospel for Asia?” posted May 27, 2015 at
http://www.patheos.com/blogs/warrenthrockmorton/2015/05/27/how-much-does-it-
really-cost-to-sponsor-a-child-with-gospel-for-asia/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).
'* See http://www.gfa.org/ministries/jesuswells/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).
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$0.00 for the welfare of orphans—Iess than 1% of what GFA collected for this purpose.

In South Asian culture, most widows are seen as a curse and shunned
from society. Depending on the circumstances, they're often ignored by
even their close relatives,

Abandoned children also face extremely difficult conditions. On their own,

they search for food in waste dumps and make their homes with trash and
rubble.

Their Situation Can Improve

Your donation will provide Gospel for Asia-supported missionaries with the
means to help these precious women and children of God.

Solicitation of donations to support *Widows and Abandoned Children” from
GFA.org (as it appeared on November 2, 2012). See
https://web.archive.org/web/20121102031628/http.//www.gfa.org/ministries/widows-
abandoned-children/ (last accessed February 2, 2016).
C. GFA diverts donated money to benefit itself and its affiliates
35.  GFA sends the majority of the donated funds it receives to Gospel for Asia
— India and Believers Church. GFA represents that these Indian entities are wholly
separate from GFA and not subject to the control of either GFA or K.P. Yohannan.
GFA’s website presents Believers Church as a “Field Partner” of GFA and, states there is
“no legal binding [sic] between GFA and Believers Church.”'® In a video overview of
Believers Church hosted on GFA’s website, GFA identifies K.P. Yohannan solely as the

“Founder of Gospel for Asia.” The video is hosted at http://www.gfa.org/believerschurch/,

and a screenshot from the video containing this identification is as follows:

1% See “Once in a while, | hear about Believers Church through GFA. Is there any

affiliation between GFA and Believers Church?” answered at
http://www.gfa.org/about/faqs/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).
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| —

'KPYohannan

Founder of Gospel For Asia

36. K.P. Yohannan, however, also serves as the Metropolitan of Believers
Church (the position of highest and absolute authority within the organization, analogous
to the Pope of the Roman Catholic Church).

Believers Church

SYNOD SECRETARIAT

Bishops of Believers Church

Dr. K.P. Yohannan, Metropolitan Bishop Anil Kumar Debbarmal

Believers Church has eleven bishops, including Metropolitan Yohannan. See
http://www. believerschurch.com/about/bishops/ (last accessed February 2, 2016).

37.  As Metropolitan, Yohannan knows of and provides input into every
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significant decision affecting the finances of Believers Church. See Exhibit 1 hereto at
p.6, item 10. Among the “Powers and Functions of the Metropolitan,” as outlined in the
2009 Constitution of Believers Church, are:

* “The Metropolitan shall by the virtue of his office is [sic] the President and final
authority for the Church government, including the Managing Trustee or
President of all Trust and societies of the Believers Church and custodian of the
Believers Church at large.”

* “He has authority over the Church and all the establishments thereunder.”

* “The Metropolitan shall have power to give directions to the Episcopa (Bishops)
on all matters in regards to spiritual and general administration and life of the

Church and can withdraw or modify any of such conferred powers.”

CHAPTER 2
THE MINISTRY OF THE CHURCH

THE METROPOLITAN BISHOP

l) The Metropolitan Bishop (hereinafter referred as
the Metropolitan) shall be the supreme ecclesias-
tical and constitutional Head and final authority
on all matters of the Believers Church under the
Lordship of Jesus Christ. THE HEAD of the
Church. The Metropolitan of the Church shall be
constitutionally known and addressed, “His Grace
The Most Reverend™ with the name that is other-
wise officially known.

From the Believers Church 2009 Constitution. See
http://www.patheos.com/blogs/warrenthrockmorton/2015/10/20/believers-church-
constitution-contradicts-k-p-yohannans-claim-that-he-has-no-legal-authority-in-
indian-church/ (last accessed February 1, 2016). b

'7 See also Believers Church’s own reference to its Constitution at
http://www .believerschurch.com/about/ (last accessed February 1, 2016).
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38. Yohannan created Believers Church in 2003. From 2003 through 2014,
GFA solicited and collected approximately $700,000,000 from U.S. donors. During this
period, Believers Church bought and operated the following:

(1) a 2,300-acre for-profit rubber plantation, the Cheruvally Rubber Estate, in

Kerala, India, shown in the following screenshot:

About Projects News Contact Store

Believers Church

SYNOD SECRETARIAT

Cheruvally Estate

= b
v

r sl el
Cheruvally is a beautiful 2,300 acre rubber estate located in Kerala. Believers Church acquired

the estate as an investment to help fund social work among underdeveloped communities.

From the Believers Church website. See htip://\www.believerschurch.com/cheruvally-
estate/ (last accessed February 2, 2016).

(2) Caarmel Engineering College, a for-profit undergraduate institute in Kerala,
India, of which K.P. Yohannan is the “patron” as shown on the College’s homepage as

referenced in the following screenshot:
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66

A world of opportunity

awaits you here
at Caarmel 77

Dr. K.P. Yohannan,
Metropolitan, Believers

Church.

bl L T T e— -
.I..M - -

From the Caarmel Engineering College homepage. See www.bccaarmel.ac.in (last
accessed on February 2, 2016).

Believers Church Caarmel Engineering College in Kerala, India. See
http://www.becaarmel.ac.in/default.asp (last accessed February 5, 2016).

(3) Believers Church Medical College Hospital, a for-profit, 500-bed teaching

hospital established in Kerala in 2014, of which K.P. Yohannan is the “patron,” as shown
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in the following screenshot:

Beoli

0 Believers Church Services Specialties Careers

MEDICAL COLLEGE HOSPITAL

Dr. K.P. Yohannan, Metropolitan

Dr. I.P. Yohannan, Metropolitan of Believers Church, has a vision to provide
quality holistic healthcare in an environment where patients can find both
healing and wholeness. Believers Church Medical College Hospital, located near
the church's headquarters, flows from this dream.

Starting a hospital alone is not a sustainable means for equipping the people of
India towards holistic health. Therefore the hospital looks ahead to train young
men and women for healing by introducing training programmes in medical, nursing and allied health
sciences. The medical college will challenge students to serve in rural areas of the country that lack
proper healthcare. The desire is that they will continue to serve the nation after their training.

Metropolitan Dr. K.P. Yohannan's hope is that the hospital will not only meet a need for additional
hospital beds locally, but will also equip young people to make a difference elsewhere.

From the Believers Church Medical College Hospital homepage. See www.bcmch.org
(last accessed February 2, 2016).

s Church > i
AL COLLEGE HOSPITAI e ey Byrvices: - Suaciahie - Garae
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2

~A'New Blueprint for Healthcare:

Believers Church Medical College Hospital in Kerala, India. See htip://www.bemch.org
(last accessed February 5, 2016).
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(4) At least six for-profit primary schools in Kerala, India, for which K.P.

Yohannan is patron, shown in the following screenshot:

TR e o
‘SIDENTIAL SCHOOL

An Education Institution of Believers Church

Dr. KP Yohannan, Metropolitan

Dr. K.P. Yohannan, Metropolitan of Believers Church, is
committed to giving India’s youth access to education that
will equip them with both the skills and values they need to
succeed. Believers Church Residential School was started to
help meet this goal.

Located near Believers Church’s Synod Secretariat, the
school provides a model for other value-based schools
around the country. Around 2,000 students currently study

in the school.

“Education must facilitate these children to become leaders and strong, upstanding
citizens,” says Dr. K.P. Yohannan, Metropolitan; “people who will be able to serve and lead
the country in the years to come with integrity and honesty.”

From the Believers Church Residential School website. See www.bcrschool.org (last
accessed February 2, 2016).

Believers Church Residential School in Kerala, India. See
http://www.bcrschool.org/about/ (last accessed February 5, 2016).
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(5) Sponsorship of a football (soccer) club playing the Myanmar National League.

Here is the team badge:

See http://www.datasportsgroup.com/images/clubs/200x200/11780.png
(last accessed February 3, 2016).

39.  In2010, GFA purchased land and began constructing a state-of-the-art,
$45 million compound in Wills Point, Texas. GFA initially claimed, and presented as true
through the financial documents of its auditing firm, that a $20 million anonymous
donation was received for the development of the 350-acre plot of land on which the

compound now sits, as the following excerpt shows:

UUBPEL FOK ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31. 2013 and 2012

NOTEJ - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

GFA maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured
limits. At December 31, 2013, GFA's bank balances excecded federally insured limits by
$11.286.742. At December 31, 2012, GFA's bank balances did not exceed these [ederally
insured limits. GFA has not experienced any losses in such accounts and belicves it is not
exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

During 2013. GTA reccived a temporarily restricted contribution from an anonymous donor in
the amount of $19.778.613 to be used for the construction of the new home office.

Excerpt from a 2013 audit of GFA done by Dallas accountancy Bland Garvey. Exhibit 7
hereto.
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40. In fact, the $20 million used to develop the land in Wills Point had come
to GFA from GFA-India, on the direction of Believers Church. Specifically, that $20
million came from the cash reserves of GFA-India, which consisted of donations to GFA
solicited under the promise of GFA’s 100% to-the-field guarantee and subject to the
designations of donors. Thus, money donated from the United States designated for
specific charitable purposes in “the Field” in fact was spent in the United States to
develop the Wills Point compound.

41.  GFA is now headquartered in a 350-acre compound, including a massive
headquarters building, a multi-million dollar chapel, and 80+ single-family residences for
members of the GFA religious order. Ironically, K.P. Yohannan once wrote about church
construction in the United States (in his “Revolution in World Missions™ book, at p. 47)
thusly: “These extravagant [church] buildings are insanity from a Two-Thirds World
perspective. The $74 million spent on one new building in the United States could build
thousands of average-sized churches in South Asia. The same $74 million would be
enough to guarantee that the Good News of Jesus Christ could be proclaimed to a whole

Indian state—or even some of the smaller countries of Asia.”

-~
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GFA’s new Headquarters building, designed by HH Architects. See
http://www.patheos.com/blogs/warrenthrockmorton/2015/08/28/question-for-gospel-for-
asia-how-many-indian-churches-would-43-million-build/ (last accessed February 2,
2016).

V. INDIVIDUAL ALLEGATIONS

42. Plaintiffs Matthew and Jennifer Dickson made several donations to GFA
over the course of several years. They made each such donation only after learning of
GFA’s guarantee that it would apply 100% of every donation exactly as the Dicksons
designated.

43. For example, in May of 2013, the Dicksons decided to donate $25 to
GFA’s “Widows and Abandoned Children” fund in honor of Matthew’s mother as a
Mother’s Day present. The Dicksons viewed a webpage on GFA’s website discussing the

“Widows and Abandoned Children” fund.
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In South Asian culture, most widows are seen as a curse and shunned
from society. Depending on the circumstances, they're often ignored by
even their close relatives.

Abandoned children also face extremely difficult conditions. On their own,

they search for food in waste dumps and make their homes with trash and
rubble.

Their Situation Can Improve

Your donation will provide Gospel for Asia-supported missionaries with the
means 1o help these precious women and children of God.

Your gift will also give them the chance to hear about their Creator and a Savior that loves them so much that he
died for their sins.

Know You Made a Difference

By giving to the widows and abandoned children of South Asia, you ensure that they're taken care of and shown
love.

Continue this week knowing your action has truly made a difference.

Watch a video about a woman named Geeta. This video will help you better understand the plight of widows and
children in South Asia.

Give to Widows and Abandoned Children

The webpage for the “Widows and Abandoned Children” fund at GFA.org (as it
appeared on May 14, 2013). See

abandoned-children/ (last accessed February 2, 2016).

44.  On May 12, 2013, with the understanding that GFA would apply 100% of
their $25 donation to the “Widows and Abandoned Children™ fund in the Field, the
Dicksons made the donation through GFA’s website. GFA provided the Dicksons with a
receipt (Exhibit 4 hereto) reciting the GFA 100% guarantee and noting that the $25

donation was designated to the “Widows and Abandoned Children” fund.
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Account Activity January 01, 2013 - December 31, 2013

Date Code Description Amount

Summary 4000 24 Natonal Missionary gifts $§720.00
Summary 1038107158 36 Bridge of Hope gifts $1,008.00
05/12/2013 4030 Widows and Abandoned Children $25.00

The Dicksons’ 2013 Annual Receipt documenting their gift to GFA's “Widows and
Abandoned Children” fund in honor of Matthew's mother on Mother’s Day. Exhibit 4

hereto.
All contributions to Gospel for Asia are income tax deductible
to the extent allowed by law, and are made with the
undersranding thar GFA has complete discretion and control
over the use of all donated funds. However, we are commined
o apply vour gifts according 1o your preferences
Other than reflected on this starement, no goods or services, in
part or in whole, were provided in exchange for these gifts
Ihe value of non-cash donations are not induded in this
Total Received $1,753.00 statement.
As a charter member of the Evangelical Council for Financial Accountability (ECFA), GFA 3% )
| maintains the highest standards of financial integrity and Christian ethics, and is governed oA
by a responsible board of directors. Our books are andited Ily by an independ 5
accounting firm, and copies our financial statements are available upon request. Ot husndeed pesent of all
onributions gives for wse on
' 3 - the
tion below will help reduce overhead expenses related 1o processing gifts. -

The 2013 Annual Receipt the Dicksons received from GFA, bearing the GFA 100%
Guarantee, a statement that GFA is “committed to apply your gifis according to your
preferences,” and the ECFA and ICA seals of approval and assurances thereby (valid at
the time this receipt was issued). Exhibit 4 hereto.

45.  Every single donation the Dicksons made to GFA was made only with the
understanding, based entirely on Defendants’ representations, that 100% of the donation
would be applied exactly as designated by the Dicksons. As detailed above, however,
Defendants misdirected money the Dicksons donated to GFA to purposes the Dicksons

did not designate. Had the Dicksons known that Defendants would not apply 100% of

every donation exactly as they designated, they would not have donated to GFA.
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VI. CLASS ALLEGATIONS

46. Plaintiffs seek to represent the following Class:

All persons in the United States who donated money to GFA within the applicable

statutes of limitations. Excluded from the Class are Defendants and their

subsidiaries and affiliates; all persons who make a timely election to be excluded
from the Class; governmental entities; and the Judge to whom this case is
assigned and his/her immediate family.
Plaintiffs reserve the right to revise the Class definition based upon information learned
through discovery.

47. Certification of Plaintiffs’ claims for class-wide treatment is appropriate
because Plaintiffs can prove the elements of their claims on a class-wide basis using the
same evidence as would be used to prove those elements in individual actions alleging
the same claims.

48.  This action has been brought and may be properly maintained on behalf of
the Class proposed herein under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.

49. Numerosity. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(1): The members of
the Class are so numerous and geographically dispersed that individual joinder of all
Class members is impracticable. While Plaintiffs are informed and believe that there are
not less than tens of thousands of members of the Class, the precise number of Class
members is unknown to Plaintiffs, but may be ascertained from Defendants’ books and
records. Class members may be notified of the pendency of this action by recognized,

Court-approved notice dissemination methods, which may include U.S. mail, electronic

mail, Internet postings, and/or published notice.
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50. Commonality and Predominance. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(2)

and 23(b)(3): This action involves common questions of law and fact, which predominate
over any questions affecting individual Class members, including, without limitation:

a) Whether Defendants engaged in the conduct alleged herein;

b) Whether Defendants’ conduct violates RICO, consumer protection statutes, and

other laws as asserted herein;

¢) Whether Plaintiffs and the other Class members are entitled to equitable relief,

including, but not limited to, restitution or injunctive relief; and

d) Whether Plaintiffs and the other Class members are entitled to damages and

other monetary relief and, if so, in what amount.

51. Typicality. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(3): Plaintiffs’ claims are
typical of the other Class members’ claims because, among other things, all Class
members were comparably injured through Defendants” wrongful conduct as described
above.

52. Adequacy. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(4): Plaintiffs are
adequate Class representatives because their interests do not conflict with the interests of
the other members of the Class they seek to represent; Plaintiffs have retained counsel
competent and experienced in complex class action litigation; and Plaintiffs intend to
prosecute this action vigorously. The interests of the Class will be fairly and adequately
protected by Plaintiffs and their counsel.

53. Declaratory and Injunctive Relief. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure

23(b)(2): Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to
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Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive
relief and declaratory relief, as described below, with respect to the Class as a whole.

54. Superiority. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3): A class action is
superior to any other available means for the fair and efficient adjudication of this
controversy, and no unusual difficulties are likely to be encountered in the management
of this class action. The damages or other financial detriment suffered by Plaintiffs and
the other Class members are relatively small compared to the burden and expense that
would be required to individually litigate their claims against Defendants, so it would be
impracticable for Class members to individually seek redress for Defendants” wrongful
conduct. Even if Class members could afford individual litigation, the court system could
not. Individualized litigation creates a potential for inconsistent or contradictory
judgments, and increases the delay and expense to all parties and the court system. By
contrast, the class action device presents far fewer management difficulties, and provides
the benefits of single adjudication, economy of scale, and comprehensive supervision by

a single court.

COUNT 1
VIOLATIONS OF THE RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT
ORGANIZATIONS ACT
18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968
535. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all paragraphs as though
fully set forth herein.
56.  Defendant Gospel for Asia, Inc. is an enterprise engaged in and whose

activities affect interstate commerce. Defendants Gospel for Asia-International, K.P.

Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, Carroll, and Emerick are employed by or

37

Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 69  Date Filed: 02/15/2017 Entry ID: 4502195



Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Document 1

associated with the enterprise.

57.  Asdescribed in detail in the factual allegations above, Defendants agreed
to and did conduct and participate in the conduct of the enterprise’s affairs through a
pattern of racketeering activity and for the unlawful purpose of intentionally defrauding
Plaintiffs and the Class. Defendants intentionally made materially false representations to
Plaintiffs and the members of the Class that resulted in their contributions of money for
charitable purposes to their detriment.

58. Pursuant to and in furtherance of the fraudulent scheme, on multiple,
continuous occasions over the course of several years, Defendants used the United States
mails, the internet, radio, and made multiple interstate telephone calls to solicit Plaintiffs
and the other members of the Class, and to receive contributions of money from Plaintiffs
and the other members of the Class.

59. Defendants have therefore committed multiple instances of mail fraud
under 18 U.S.C. § 1341 and wire fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1343, continuously over the
course of several years.

60.  These acts, as described in detail in the factual allegations above,
constitute a pattern of racketeering activity pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5). Defendants,
through the above-described acts, directly and indirectly conducted and participated in
the conduct of the enterprise’s affairs through the pattern of racketeering activity, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c¢). Defendants’ practices and commissions of mail fraud
are all related, as described in detail above, extend over a substantial period of time
spanning several years, and pose a threat of continued unlawful and criminal activity.

61.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendants’ racketeering activities and
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violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), Plaintiffs and the members of the Class have been

injured in their business and property in the amounts of the monies they donated, and the
Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs and the members of the Class, jointly and severally, for
all actual damage caused in an amount to be proved at trial, trebled pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

§ 1964(c).

COUNT I
FRAUD

62.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all paragraphs as though
fully set forth herein.

63.  Asdescribed in detail in the factual allegations above, Defendants made
false representations to Plaintiffs and the members of the Class that contributions

solicited for charitable purposes shall be spent in a specific manner or for specified

purposes. Defendants intentionally denied Plaintiffs and the other Class members

information that is highly relevant to their decision to contribute money for charitable
purposes, in particular the material information that significant portions of each
contribution would not be spent by Defendants as specified by Plaintiffs and the other
Class members. If Defendants had fully disclosed to Plaintiffs and the Class that their
contributions would not be spent as they specified, Plaintiffs and the members of the
Class would not have made the contributions.

64. Defendants knew their representations were false when made.

65.  Defendants intentionally made the false representations in order to induce
Plaintiffs and the members of the Class to contribute money, and Plaintiffs and the

members of the Class reasonably contributed money as a result.
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66. Plaintiffs and the other Class members have as a result been injured in an
amount to be proved at trial.

67. Defendants’ conduct was knowing, intentional, demonstrated a complete
lack of care, or was in reckless disregard for the rights of Plaintiff and the other Class
members.

68. Plaintiff and the other Class members are therefore entitled to an award of

punitive damages.

VIOLATIONS OF THE ARKANSCAgllJ)l;E:EIIE‘TIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT
Ark. Code Ann. §§ 4-88-101, ef seq.

69.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all paragraphs as though
fully set forth herein.

70. Plaintiffs have standing to pursue this claim under Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-
113(f).

71.  Asdescribed in detail in the factual allegations above, Defendants made
false representations to Plaintiffs and the members of the Class that contributions
solicited for charitable purposes shall be spent in a specific manner or for specified
purposes, in direct violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-107(a)(7).

T2 Defendants’ false representations were materially misleading to Plaintiffs
and the Class in that they resulted in Plaintiffs and the Class contributing money that they
otherwise would not have contributed.

73.  Asadirect result of Defendants’ false representations, Plaintiffs and the

Class have been injured by the Defendants, jointly and severally, in an amount to be
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proved at trial.

COUNT IV
UNJUST ENRICHMENT

74. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all paragraphs as though
fully set forth herein.

75. As described in detail in the factual allegations above, Defendants
intentionally made materially false representations to Plaintiffs and the members of the
Class that resulted in their contributions of money for charitable purposes to their
detriment.

76. Under these circumstances as described in detail above, Defendants have
received money from Plaintiffs and the members of the Class that Defendants, in equity
and good conscience, ought not retain.

77. As a result, Defendants are liable in restitution to Plaintiffs and the
members of the Class to disgorge and remit to Plaintiffs and the Class all monies

contributed, in an amount to be proved at trial.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of members of the Class,
respectfully request that the Court enter judgment in their favor and against Defendants,
as follows:
A. Certification of the proposed Class, including appointment of Plaintiffs’
counsel as Class Counsel;

B. An order temporarily and permanently enjoining Defendants from continuing
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the unlawful, deceptive, fraudulent, and unfair practices alleged in this
Complaint;
C. Costs, restitution, damages, including punitive damages, and disgorgement in
an amount to be determined at trial;
D. An order requiring Defendants to pay both pre- and post-judgment interest on
any amounts awarded;
E. An award of costs and attorneys’ fees; and
F. Such other or further relief as may be appropriate.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs hereby demand a jury trial.
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DATED this _ day of February, 2016.
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Respectfully submitted,

7

/ l : A/l L~
Woodson W. Bassett 111
Arkansas Bar No. 77006
whassett@ bassettlawfirm.com
James Graves
Arkansas Bar No. 95172
jgraves(wbassettlawfirm.com
BASSETT LAW FIRM LLP
221 North College Avenue
P.O. Box 3618
Fayetteville, Arkansas 72702
479.521.9996
479.521.9600 (fax)

Marc R. Stanley (pro hac vice forthcoming)
marcstanley(@mac.com

Martin Woodward (pro hac vice forthcoming)
mwoodward(@stanleylawgroup.com
STANLEY LAW GROUP

6116 N. Central Expressway, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75206

214.443.4300

214.443.0358 (fax)

Tom Mills (pro hac vice forthcoming)
tmills@millsandwilliams.com

MILLS AND WILLIAMS, LLP

5910 N. Central Expressway, Suite 980
DALLAS, TEXAS 75206

214.265.9265

214.361.3167 (FAX)

Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Class
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Evangelical Council for Financial Accountability

440 West Jubal Early Drive. Suite 100 « Winchester, VA 22601

Enhancing Trust September 2, 2015

Dr. K. P. Yohannan, President
Gospel for Asia

1800 Golden Trail Ct
Carrollton, TX 75010-4649

Dear Dr. Yohannan,

We have been in conversation with Gospel for Asia (GFA) representatives since May 6, 2015
regarding various allegations relating to ECFA Standards, including conducting an on-site visit on
June 3, meetings with David Carroll and you in our office on July 1 and at Dulles Airport on July 27,
and a meeting with David, Danny Yohannan, and Teresa Chupp in Winchester on August 12,
2015, plus numerous communications by phone and email.

The following is a summary of the most significant GFA compliance issues we reviewed:

1. Use of field-generated funds to satisfy designated foreign contributions. During our
meeting on July 1, ECFA first learned that GFA and its field partners have engaged in a
multi-year practice whereby field partners at least partially satisfied the designations on
foreign contributions (primarily from U.S. donors, restricted for field use in India) by using
locally generated field income (contributions from donors in India, profits from an India-
based rubber plantation, hospitals, etc.).

GFA staff indicated that the purpose of this practice was to retain foreign contributions in
Indian Foreign Contribution (FC) accounts to earn a higher interest rate while expending
locally generated funds that would not earn the higher interest rate. At this point, it is
important to note that GFA disclaims that it exercises any control over field partners (see
#10 below).

GFA staff also indicated that amounts in FC accounts would be used eventually for their
original designation, as well, with the ultimate result that the purpose of the foreign
contributions would be more than fulfilled.

To be clear, GFA solicited funds from donors, primarily gifts with donor restrictions, and
transferred the funds to field partners in India, depositing them in FC accounts. While
certain amounts were expended from the FC accounts in fulfilment of donor designations,
significant amounts were retained in FC accounts over a period of years (see #2 below).

ECFA staff observed to GFA that it is not a normative practice to hold donor-restricted gifts
and fulfill donor restrictions using other funds. Especially with respect to funds sent to
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international partners, it is extremely difficult for GFA to demonstrate that it has exercised
appropriate control of the funds. Further, ECFA observed that this practice may not comply
with ECFA Standard 7.2 because of the lack of clarity regarding the satisfaction of donor
restrictions on gifts solicited by and given to GFA.

Our review of the board minutes did not indicate the GFA board had approved, or even
been notified of, the practice of using field generated funds to satisfy restrictions on foreign
contributions.

Subsequent to ECFA learning of this practice on July 1, GFA represented to ECFA that
GFA's field partners have ceased the practice of satisfying the designation on foreign
contributions with field-generated funds.

Excessive cash balances held in partner field accounts. Allegations were made that
GFA had upwards of $150 million in partner field accounts, far more than necessary to
provide appropriate operating reserves. During our visit on June 3, ECFA was informed that
GFA field partner cash reserves were approximately $7 million. After ECFA requested
detailed documentation of cash balances held by foreign field offices, on June 29, we
discovered that GFA's field partners had $259,437,098 on hand at March 31, 2014 and
approximately $186 million in June 2015.

ECFA staff questioned the appropriateness of the high levels of cash being held in partner
field accounts. We were told that GFA partners felt it was important to maintain the high
balances in case the Indian government decided to block funds being transferred into the
country.

The source of the balances was primarily from donor-restricted gifts to GFA, often raised in
response to gift solicitations that communicated urgent field needs (see #4 below). ECFA
staff expressed concern that the high reserves may not comply with ECFA Standards 4 and
7.1. Subsequent to our conversation on this matter on July 27, GFA provided ECFA with a
plan to reduce partner field account reserves to $72 Million, and then amended the plan on
August 27 to reduce reserves down to $11 Million. Again, GFA staff disclaimed that GFA
exercises any control over field partners (see #10 below).

In our meeting on July 1, ECFA staff asked you what the GFA board would think if they
knew of the high balances in partner field accounts. You indicated that neither the board
nor you were aware of the magnitude of the balances. You responded, “They would be as
surprised as | am.” Subsequently, the GFA board was notified, during their July 13 board
meeting, of the balances held by field partners.

Delay in sending funds to the field. It was not until the meeting on August 12 that we
learned that $47,898,342, or approximately 82%, of gifts received by GFA in 2014
designated for India were not sent to the field until the last two days of the calendar year.
To be clear, nearly $50 million of gifts were raised from January to December, with only
modest amounts sent to the field until the end of the year.
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ECFA staff expressed concern over failing to send gifts to the field on a timely basis, raising
compliance issues under ECFA Standards 4, 7.1, and 7.2, particularly given the urgent
nature of many GFA gift solicitations. Subsequent to this discovery, GFA staff indicated that
field partners requested the delay of sending the funds to the field due to challenges in
transmitting funds into India. ECFA could not confirm if the delay in transferring the funds
was justified.

Based on ECFA's review of GFA'’s internal financial statements as of June 30, 2015, GFA
had a cash balance of $28,338,841 in funds designated for foreign field partners, or more
than the total of all funds received for the field in the first half of 2015. In other words, the
practice of sending funds to the field on a significantly delayed basis was not only followed
for 2014 but also during the first half of 2015.

GFA staff informed ECFA on August 12 that part of the cash balances held by GFA on
June 30 were transferred to field partners during the month of July. On August 21, GFA
staff indicated there is now a plan to send funds to field partners on the 15" of each month.

When ECFA staff asked if the board was apprised of the delays in transferring funds to the
field, GFA staff indicated the board was informed of this fact because the board received
periodic financial statements. However, the internal financial statements erroneously
reflected field funds as a liability and as an expense immediately upon receiving the funds.
Thus, it would have been very difficult for the board to learn of the delays in sending funds
to the field because the interim financial statements indicated the funds had been sent to
the field when they had not. Therefore, ECFA found no indication that the board had
approved, or even been clearly informed, of the questionable practice of delaying sending
funds to the field.

. The level of urgency communicated in GFA donor appeals contrasted with reserves
held by foreign field partners and delays in sending funds to the field. In light of the
significant cash balances held by field partners and the delay in sending funds to the field,
ECFA staff raised concerns about the appropriateness of communicating urgency in many
donor appeals. This includes appeals indicating “When we share with you about the
urgency to reach the untold, lost millions—and the opportunities to win them to Jesus—it is
not done to produce feelings of guilt or manipulate.” One appeal we reviewed indicated
“One blanket, like the one Hetaksh received, will literally make the difference between life
and death for them and especially for their small children and elderly relatives.”

The delay between when a donor gives a gift and when the funds are actually made
available for designated purposes on the field is inconsistent with the level of urgency in
many appeals and the timeliness of using donor-restricted funds as required by ECFA
Standards 7.1 and 7.2. On August 12, GFA staff indicated that despite the delay in making
foreign contributions available to carry out programmatic work, at least some designated
funds were disbursed on a timely basis through the use of field-generated income.
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Our review of the board minutes did not indicate the GFA board had approved, or even
been notified, of GFA’s practice of soliciting funds based on urgency with a corresponding
delay in disbursing funds to the field.

Lack of discretion and control over funds granted to foreign entities. During our
review on June 3, ECFA staff raised questions regarding GFA'’s oversight and control of
funds sent to foreign field partners. GFA’s staff indicated that the foreign field partners are
completely independent organizations and therefore GFA did not exercise any direct
control over field partners. GFA staff also indicated that they did not have a foreign grant
process in place to oversee the use of funds.

Given legal requirements on tax-exempt entities to have appropriate discretion and control

over the use of funds sent to foreign entities, ECFA staff indicated that GFA'’s lack of a

grant process appears to violate ECFA Standard 4's requirement to follow applicable laws.

Subsequent to these conversations, on August 21, GFA staff indicated a new foreign grant |
process was developed with the assistance of its new audit firm and will be in effect as of

September 1, 2015.

Our review of the board minutes did not indicate the GFA board had approved, or even
been notified, of GFA's minimal oversight of funds provided to field partners.

GFA solicits funds for narrower purposes than the eventual expenditure of the funds.
During ECFA's review on August 12, GFA staff provided a document to demonstrate the
flow of funds from GFA to field partners. ECFA learned that donor-restricted donations are
appropriately tracked by particular revenue classifications. However, we also discovered,
and it was confirmed by GFA staff, that the disbursement of the gifts are tracked in much
broader categories. For example, donations were received and tracked for 38 different
specific items including kerosene lanterns, bio sand filters, chickens, manual sewing
machines, blankets, bicycle rickshaws, and others, but related expenses were only tracked
as “community development.” In other words, donations were raised for 38 specific items,
with the donations pooled for expenditure purposes instead of expending them specifically
for the purposes raised.

ECFA did not find any evidence that donors to the 38 different giving categories had
awareness that their gifts were grouped and used in a broader category than the specific
categories in which the gifts were raised. ECFA’s staff raised concerns regarding GFA'’s
compliance with ECFA Standard 4, 7.1, and 7.2 in raising funds for a particular purpose but
then failing to document the actual use of those funds by the particular donor-restricted
purpose.

Subsequent to this conversation, on August 16, GFA staff indicated that GFA field partners
will begin tracking expenditures by specific item accounts to provide adequate transparency
as to the use of designated funds.
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Our review of the board minutes did not indicate the GFA board had approved, or even
been notified, that gifts solicited for very specific purposes were not being expended with
the same specificity as the gifts were raised.

7. GFA'’s financial statements do not appropriately report transactions with foreign
partners. During our review on June 3, GFA staff indicated that funds transferred to GFA
India were actually transferred to a number of related entities instead of the single entity
reflected in the 2013 audited financial statements. Additionally, on August 24 we learned
that GFA received a $19,778,613 donation from GFA India, which was classified as a
related party elsewhere on the 2013 audited financial statements (also see #8 below).

On August 27, GFA staff confirmed that this donation was neither disclosed in the footnotes
of the 2013 financial statements as a related-party transaction nor to the GFA board of
directors. This inconsistency within the financial statements and lack of disclosure to the
GFA board of directors about a significant related-party transaction appears to violate
ECFA Standards 2, 3, and 6. On July 20, ECFA was informed that GFA engaged a new
audit firm and they are in the process of reviewing related-party transactions.

8. Use of funds restricted for the field for other purposes. On June 3, ECFA discussed
GFA'’s claim that 100 percent of field funds are sent and used in the field. GFA staff
confirmed that this was accurate.

On August 24, ECFA was informed that GFA India made a gift to GFA of $19,778,613 in
2013 to complete GFA’s new office. On August 27, GFA’s staff confirmed that the funds
relating to this donation were originally received by GFA as gifts restricted for the field and
GFA transferred to field partners to fulfill donor restrictions.

Two important issues are raised:

A. Reallocating gifts donated for field purposes and using them to pay for headquarters
construction appears to be a violation of ECFA’s Standards 7.2. GFA staff stated in
a recorded GFA staff meeting that you approached the field partner and explained
that GFA could borrow the funds in the U.S., at less than desirable terms, for the
headquarters construction. However, a gift from the field partner, in lieu of GFA
borrowing the funds, would allow GFA to complete the new headquarters and
thereby save interest. Therefore, GFA would be able to send more money to the
field in future years.

ECFA believes that the potential savings resulting from the GFA India gift is an
inadequate basis to reallocate gifts donated for field purposes.

B. Reallocating gifts donated for field purposes contradicts GFA's claim that 100
percent of funds are sent to the field. In fact, a significant amount of donations
restricted for the field made a circuitous trip back to GFA and were used for the
headquarters construction, as though they had never gone to the field. This appears
to be a violation of Standard 7.1.
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10.

In a GFA staff meeting, GFA indicated the field partner took out a loan to cover the use
of the $19,778,613 gift and GFA staff confirmed on August 27 that India-generated
income was used to repay the loan.

Our review of the board minutes did not indicate the GFA board had approved, or even
been notified, of the $19,778,613 reallocation of donor-restricted gifts.

GFA’s financial statements presentation of restricted funds. On August 12, it was
noted that GFA reported accrued field support on its 2013 audited financial statements as a
liability instead of classifying those funds as temporarily restricted net assets. This appears
to be a departure from Generally Accepted Accounting Principals (GAAP) as required by
ECFA Standard 3. GFA staff has confirmed that this matter was also highlighted by GFA'’s
new audit firm as a departure from GAAP and will be corrected on the 2014 audited
financial statements.

GFA'’s control with respect to field partners. At several points in our review, GFA staff
has disclaimed any control over field partners, including Believer's Church in India, which
oversees all other field partners. Whether GFA has control or does not have control over its
field partners has a significant relationship to a number of issues, including disclosures of
related-party transactions in the audited financial statements, oversight of the use of
resources of field partners, board approval of related-party transactions, and truthfulness in
communications. Additionally, this control issue appears to relate to GFA’'s compliance with
ECFA Standards 3, 4, 6, and 7.1.

On August 21, GFA's staff stated that your responsibilities and powers as the Metropolitan
Bishop of Believer's Church, as included in the Believer's Church Constitution adopted
February 6, 2003, include the following:

“1. The Metropolitan Bishop is the spiritual head and chief shepherd of the
Believer's Church, under the Lordship of Jesus Christ, THE HEAD of the
church.”

“4. He provides directions to the Bishops, pastors and all other church workers on
all matters and in regard to the spiritual life and mission of the Church.”

“5. The Metropolitan is responsible to give general and pastoral oversight of all
members, Pastors, Priests and Church works and the Spiritual activities of that
Church.”

“10. He appoints Bishops according the Constitution.”

“12. He functions as the president of the Synod, the Conference of Bishops,
General Assembly, institutions, and every other official body of the Church as
may be established or constituted from time to time....”

Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 82  Date Filed: 02/15/2017 Entry ID: 4502195



Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Document 1-1  Filed 02/08/16 Page 8 of 10 PagelD #: 51

Dr. K. P. Yohannan
September 2, 2015

Page 7

11.

12.

Therefore, it appears that GFA staff has significant influence on the operations and
decisions of GFA field partners. This influence has been evidenced in the announcement of
vast revisions in maintaining or spending down cash balances held by field partners, the
change in tracking expenditures for consistency with how funds were solicited, and ceasing
the use of local funds to partially cover donor restrictions.

Based on this level of oversight and control as well observed during our review, ECFA staff
questions whether GFA has a sound basis to disclaim any control over the activities of field
partners.

Failure to report funds hand-carried by trip participants. ECFA received concerns
regarding GFA’s lack of disclosure with the U.S. Department of Homeland Security
regarding a total of $287,500 of cash sent with trip participants that exceeded federal
mandatory reporting during the years 2013, 2014, and 2015. On June 3, ECFA reviewed
this issue regarding compliance with ECFA Standard 4. When ECFA staff queried GFA
concerning the reason that excessive cash was carried out of the U.S., GFA staff said the
practice was used to avoid reporting the incoming cash in India.

India per year. Thus, carrying in a few hundreds of thousands of dollars in cash to avoid
reporting in India does not seem to be a sound basis for the practice.

While ECFA cannot conclusively determine if there was a sound basis to carry cash into
India, we are clear that there is no justification to disobey U.S. law with respect to reporting
cash carried out of the U.S.

On July 20, GFA staff reported the failure to properly disclose cash carried into India during
the years 2013, 2014, and 2015 to the Department of Homeland Security. On July 27 and
in subsequent meetings, GFA staff indicated that GFA has not received and does not
anticipate any further follow-up from the Department of Homeland Security on this matter.

Failure of the GFA board to exercise adequate governance oversight. During ECFA’s
review, there were several significant practices that prompted us to inquire whether the
GFA board was aware of such practices. As observed in items #1, 2, 3,4, 5,6, and 8
above, GFA board minutes do not indicate board oversight of significant governance
matters.

On July 27, you informed ECFA staff that board meetings usually last two to three hours. It
is difficult to reconcile these relatively brief board meetings with the board engagement
necessary to provide independent oversight of a ministry with the complexity and
magnitude of GFA.

These matters raise serious questions regarding GFA’s compliance with ECFA Standards
2, 3, and 6, requiring the board to provide independent oversight and governance of the

[
ECFA observes that GFA has been transferring approximately $50 million from the U.S. to |
ministry, including the approval of any related-party transactions.
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17.

Source of funds relating to for-profit field operations. ECFA received concerns alleging
inappropriate investment of foreign contributions in India-based for-profit ventures. ECFA
reviewed this in regard to GFA’s compliance with ECFA Standards 4, 7.1, and 7.2. On June
3, GFA staff indicated that any funds invested in for-profit ventures have been fully sourced
from field-generated income and not from foreign contributions.

Child sponsorship fundraising practices differ between GFA and GFA India. ECFA
received concerns regarding differences in fundraising practices for child sponsorship
between GFA and GFA India. On June 3 and July 1, ECFA reviewed these concerns in
relation to ECFA Standard 7.1. On July 27, GFA staff indicated that there was confusion
caused by the fact that while GFA raises funds in a one-to-one ratio in the U.S., GFA India
raises sponsorships by securing three sponsors per child, each sponsor covering a third of
the costs.

Alleged missing funds according to Indian FC6 forms. ECFA received allegations that a
significant amount of funds were missing based on attempts to reconcile GFA’s audited
financial statements and field partner’s Indian FC6 forms. ECFA reviewed this matter to
determine compliance with ECFA Standard 4. On July 20, GFA staff provided ECFA with a
reconciliation of these amounts, which reflected a transfer of $29,300,000 to a GFA India
account in Hong Kong. GFA staff reported that this transfer was not required to be reported
on Indian FC6 forms and that this amount along with fiscal year timing differences led to the
allegations of significant missing funds.

Claims of inappropriate use of funds under an Indian tax assessment. ECFA received
concerns that an Indian Tax Court case indicates that GFA India misused funds for
purposes other than what they were intended. ECFA reviewed this matter for compliance
with ECFA Standard 4. On July 27, GFA's staff indicated that this matter was a false
charge that was later remanded and that GFA India was absolved of any wrongdoing in this
matter. GFA'’s staff was not able to provide any documentation other than reports from field
partners on this matter.

GFA’s 2015 renewal does not include audited financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2014, as required under Standard 3. ECFA received a request to extend
the due date of the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 due
to engagement of your new audit firm. Given the nature of the timing and the extenuating
circumstances, ECFA staff granted an extension to December 31, 2015 to provide the
audit, provided that quarterly financial statements are provided to ECFA within 45 days of
each quarter end. To date, GFA’s staff has provided all requisite quarterly financial reports.

Finally, we feel compelled to observe our concern, in general, about the following in addition to the
above ECFA compliance-related issues:

Certain information provided to ECFA by GFA that was crucial to our review was, at least
initially, inaccurate.
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e Our review process has covered nearly four months. Certain pertinent information about
the compliance issues was not revealed to ECFA by GFA until late in the review process.

* We have learned significant information from sources unrelated to GFA that we should
have learned directly from GFA.

If you desire to provide a formal response, we respectfully request that response by September 15,
2015. All references in this letter to GFA refer to GFA U.S. unless otherwise identified.

On October 2, 2015, we anticipate the ECFA board of directors will receive and discuss a report
from the ECFA staff resulting from the ECFA compliance review of GFA. The board will determine
whether any action and, if so, what action, is appropriate regarding GFA’s membership with ECFA.

As with previous letters sent to GFA, this letter confirms that a review of GFA’s compliance with
ECFA Standards is ongoing. Enclosed is a copy of the ECFA Publication of Membership Status
Policy affirmed by members via the ECFA Bylaws on each renewal cycle. ECFA’s compliance
review is focused on ECFA Standards 2, 3, 4, 6, 7.1, and 7.2. A copy of applicable ECFA
Standards and the related Commentaries is enclosed with this letter.

Should there be any intervening issues or concerns raised, we request that GFA proactively
provide responses on these concerns.

Respectfully,

John C. Van Drunen

Executive Vice President
CC: Mr. David Carroll, COO and Mr. Robert Felder, Board Secretary

Enclosures: ECFA Publication of Membership Status Policy
ECFA Standards and Commentaries
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YOUR GIFT STATEMENT

Thank you /[o'z your /z'zays'z ard }[énancia[ 5u,p/20'z£./

Your Gift Summary December 31, 2013

Matthew and Jennifer Dickson

_ Received Since January 01, 2013

Rogers, AR 72756 | Amount Received $1,753.00
| Your Account 11616684

Gifts receved after December 31st will be reflected on vour next statement

Dear Matthew and Jennifer,

It’s the beginning of a new year, and I already look forward to all the amazing ways God 1s .
going to work. | know we will see many more lives transformed and villages reached with 2013 Tax Deductlble TOtal

the Good News of Jesus Christ. $1,753.00

‘Thank you for choosing to help make this a reality. The Lord is using your generosity and
prayers to continue building His kingdom. Reach more people with the
Good News. ..

...through vour company’s
Yours for the unreached, gh your compan
matching @ft program.
Take a moment to:

- 3 :
-Go to gfa.org/match

K.P. Yohannan Call us at 1-800-946-2742

Founder and International Director Talk to your HR Departmeat

A KEEP this portion for tax purposes 800-WIN-ASIA (1-800-946-2742) * M-F, 9 a.m.-5 p.m. Central * 1800 Golden Trail Court * Carrollton, TX 75010
W RETURN rhis portion with your next gift www.gfa.org Make checks payable to Gaspel for Asia. For credit card or bank debit, see back.
Commitments as of December 31, 2013 Your Next Gift
Commitment Code Amount Gift Preference Amount Enclosed
Sotesh Hembrom 129294 30.00 /mo? Pledged Amount—30.00 <
Rita Basumatary 138972 30.00 /mo* : o
s P X K Where Most Needed (7000) 5
Soni Kumarn 1014100084 28.00 /mo* Whese Mast Needed (7000
Buix Heaibrom 1014101903 28.00 /mo* Women Missionanes (4020) S
Sakthivel 1038107158 28.00 /mo* Orther (Please Speatfy)
Current Month Total $0.00 N
Total Gift Enclosed $

Matthew and Jennifer Dickson: 11616684

A Thank vou for using our automatic gift program

Please use the space above for 1 Prayer Request or J Address Change

11b1bbA84AFHEINISE TREZ00000MA0 0 HHHHI 00000 008 RIBIH @PRTHIBE17 Entry ID: 4502195



Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Document 1-4

Filed 02/08/16 Page 3 of 3 PagelD #: 78

Account Activity January 01, 2013 - December 31, 2013 2013 Tax-Deductible Gifts

Date Code Description Amount Month Amount Given
Summary 4000 24 Nadonal Missionary gifts $720.00 January $144.00
Summary 1038107158 36 Bridge of Hope gifts $1,008.00 February $144.00
05/12/2013 4030 Widows and Abandoned Children $25.00 March $144.00
April $144.00
May $169.00
June $144.00
July $144.00
August $144.00
September $144.00
October $144.00
s November $144.00
December $144.00
Year-to-Darte Toral $1,753.00

All contributions t Gospel for Asia are income tax deductible
to the extent allowed by law, and are made with the
understanding that GFA has complete discretion and control
over the use of all donated funds. However, we are committed
to apply your gifts according 1o your preferences.

Other than reflected on this statement, no goods or services, in
part or in whole, were provided in exchange for these gifts.

‘The value of nan-cash donarions are not included in this

Total Received $1,753.00 statement.
A indicates an adjustment from an carlier gift Asach ber of the Evangelical Council for Financial Accountability (ECFA), GFA | 30 A
N indicates the gift is NOT tax-deductible maintains the highest standards of financial integrity and Christian ethics, and is governed "‘\)___.'.a |
Pindicares the gt wid pist by o by a responsible board of directors. Our books are audited annually by an independent
HCICHES S S WP p accounting firm, and copies our financial statements are available upon request. One hundred percent of all
muw given for wic on
Using the electronic fund transfer payment oprion below will help reduce overhead expenses related to processing gifts. e e

Monthly or One-Time Gift from Credit/Debit Card

We accept Visa, Mastercard, AmericanExpress and Discover

I authorize Gospel for Asia to charge my credit card for the amount of

S
J One Time or U Monthly
Card Number: - - - S

Expiration Date: _ _ / _

Print name as it appears on credit card

Authorized Signature

*If monthly, this authorization will remain in effecc until I notify Gospel
for Asia in writing two weeks prior to the automatic charge that I wish

o changc or discontinue.

Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 110

Monthly Gift from Checking Account

Be sure to include a VOIDED BLANK CHECK (U.S. banks only)

| authorize Gospel for Asia to withdraw from my checking account

for the amount of $ on or about the 1 3" or 1 18*

of each month. This authorization will remain in effect until I notify

Gospel for Asia in writing one week prior to the automaric withdrawal

that [ wish to change or discontinue.

Print name as it appears on bank account

Authorized Signature

STATEMENT -B25
Date Filed: 02/15/2017 Entry ID: 4502195
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GARVEY

ACCOIINTANTS 8 CONSUITANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Gospel for Asia, Inc.

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Gospel for Asia, Inc. (a nonprofit
organization), which comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2013, and
the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then cnded, and the related notes

to the financial statcments.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these {inancial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the cntity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Bland Garvey, PC.
2600 N. Central Fxpressway, Suite 55()
Richardson, Toxas /5080-200/ < D

P
P 072.231.2503 b A77-783-6501 Prlmeqlg‘ba
www blandqgarvey.com
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Gospel for Asia, Inc.
Page 2

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Gospel for Asia, Inc. as of December 31, 2013, and the changes in net
assets and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited Gospel for Asia’s 2012 financial statements. and our report dated
June 18, 2013, expressed an unmodified opinion on those audited financial statements. In our
opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2012, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements

from which it has been derived.

%——Q't"‘"‘& :% (N\i\"“\‘x Q & N

Y

Richardson, Texas

June 13, 2014
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, 2013 and 2012
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ASSETS
2013 2012
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash $ 14,112,769 $ 20,022,338
Contributions receivable (Note L) 3,025,953 3,133,527
Short term gifts in kind (Note B) 347,030 329,218
Accounts reccivable 6,465 1,633
Inventory (Note D) 489,534 535,786
Prepaid expenses (Note E) 120,174 153,514
Current portion of note receivable (Note M) 57,281 52,891
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 18,159,206 24,228,907
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note N)
Land, building and improvements 41,576,950 17,374,945
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2,563,550 2,552,129
Vehicles 59,305 65,622
44,199,805 19,992,696
Less accumulated depreciation 5,038,118 4,634,913
39,161,687 15,357,783
OTHER ASSETS
Deposits 7,504 6,554
Note receivable, net (Note M) 92,587 149,868
Long term gifts in kind (Note B) 1,412,840 1,347,090
Assets held in charitable remainder unitrust (Note F) 74,670 67,022
Assets held under charitable gift annuity (Note F) 21,248 19,595
Assets held under revocable intents to give (Note F) 286,255 275,063
1,895,104 1,865,192
3 59,215,997 $ 41,451,882

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, 2013 and 2012

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued field support (Note L)
Accrued liabilities
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Note F)
Liability under charitable remainder unitrust agreement
Liability under charitable gift annuity
Liability for refundable advance under revocable intent
to give

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note J)

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Filed 02/08/16 Page 6 of 25 PagelD #: 89

2013 2012
h) 1,824,995 $ 719,340
5,455,256 10,085,807
14,536 15,236
7,294,787 10,820,383
27,422 29,400
8,880 9,237
286,255 275,063
322,557 313,700
43,643,074 19,051,802
7,955,579 11,265,997
51,598,653 30,317,799
3 59,215,997 $ 41,451,882

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Increase in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activitics
Depreciation
Realized (gain) loss on sale of investments
Realized loss on disposal of assets
Change in value of split-interest agreements
Contributions of gifts in kind
Gifts in kind transferred to operations
(Increase) decrease in contributions receivable
(Increase) decrease in due from affiliate
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in inventory
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses
(Increase) decrease in dcposits
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued field support
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Increase in construction in progress
Proceeds from sales of gifts in kind
Proceeds from note receivable
Net cash used by investing activities

Filed 02/08/16 Page 8 of 25 PagelD #: 91

2013 2012
$21,280,854  $ 2,111,870
532,301 522.640
(41,204) 9,325
7.669 -
(11,636) (8,520)
(605,044) (2,056,408)
) 18.486
107,574 (97.970)
- 9,000,000
(4.832) (1,633)
46,252 69,486
33,340 58,617
(950) (240)
1,105,655 (194,924)
(4.630,551) 5,780,867
(700) 5,196
17,818,728 15,216,792
(148,954) (255,619)
7,085 -
(24,202,005) (3,958.564)
562,686 583,466
52,891 79,036
(23,728.297) (3.551.681)

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

2013 2012

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
EQUIVALENTS $ (5,909,569) $ 11,665,111

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 20,022,338 8,357,227

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR $ 14,112,769 $ 20,022,338

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paid $ - $ -

Income taxes paid $ - $ -

See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to financial statements.
-7-
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE A — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The summary of significant accounting policies of Gospel for Asia, Inc. (GFA) is presented to
assist in understanding the Organization’s financial statements. The financial statements and
notes are representations of GFA’s management, who is responsible for their integrity and
objectivity. These accounting policies conform with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America and have been consistently applied in the preparation of the

financial statements.

Organization

GFA is a non-denominational, evangelical mission organization dedicated to rcaching the
most unreached peoples of Asia with the love of Jesus Christ. GFA recruits, trains, sends
and supports thousands of national workers who are engaged in sharing God’s love and
discipleship in 10 Asian countries.

In addition, GFA national workers share the love of Christ by helping more than 60,000
children enrolled in the GFA Bridge of Hope ministry, providing disaster relicf,
broadcasting the Good News in 110 languages, and printing millions of pieces of Gospel
literature and Scriptures each year.

GFA informs Christians in the West of the progress, effectivencss and the nceds of thesc
missionaries and provides opportunities for involvement through prayer, sponsorship,
volunteer help, project giving and vision/teaching tours to the mission field.

Basis of accounting

GFA prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting which reflects
all significant receivables, payables and other liabilities.

The financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on June 13,
2014, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

Basis of presentation

GFA has adopted the current authoritative guidance, Financial Statements of Not-For-
Profit Organizations. Under this standard, the Organization is required to report
information regarding its financial position and activitics according to three classes of net
assets: unrestricted, temporarily restricted and permanently restricted. Any earnings on
specific assets are considered unrestricted unless otherwise restricted by the donor.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Deccember 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Recognition of support and revenue

For accounting purposes, GFA operates on a calendar year basis. Support and revenues
are recognized as received or eamed. Donors may request their gifts be used for field
support, capital improvements, disaster relief or on a “where most needed™ basis among
other designations. The support received related to the mission work is considered
temporarily restricted and is released from restriction when the contributions have been
sent to the Asian mission field or are sent within a few months after the calendar year-
end. Any unspent contributions restricted to field support are classified as temporarily
restricted support. Contributions postmarked by December 31, or before and received
after year-end are recorded as a receivable and a corresponding ficld support expense is

accrued.

Donor-restricted support is reported as an increase in temporarily or permanently
restricted nct assets depending on the nature of the restriction. GFA reports donor-
restricted contributions whose restrictions are met in the same reporting period as
unrestricted support. Temporarily restricted nct assets consist of contributions that have
not yet been sent to the Asian mission field by year end or a few months after year cnd,
unspent contributions of cash that must be used to acquirc property and equipment, and
the assets held in the charitable remainder unitrust, charitable gift annuity and revocable
intents to give, net of the related liabilities.

Comparative totals

The financial statements and related footnotes include certain prior year summarized
comparative information in total but not by net asset class. Such information does not
include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such
information should be read in conjunction with GFA’s financial statements for the yecar
ended December 31, 2012, from which the summarized information was derived.

Financial instruments

The amounts reflected in the balance sheet for cash, receivables and accounts payablc
approximate fair value due to the short maturity of those instruments. GFA’s debt
instruments carry interest at market rate; accordingly, carrying value approximates fair
value.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31,2013 and 2012

NOTE A — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management (0 make
estimated assumptions. This will affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Inventory

Inventory is valued and reported on an average cost basis.

Property and equipment

All acquisitions of property and equipment in excess of $1,000 and all expenditures for
repairs, maintenance, renewals and betterments that materially prolong the uscful lives of
assets are capitalized. Property and equipment are carried at cost or, if donated, at the
approximate fair value at the date of donation. Such donations are reported as
unrestricted support unless the donor has restricted the donated asset to a specific
purpose. Assets donated with explicit restrictions regarding their use and contributions of
cash that must be used to acquire property and equipment are reported as restricted
support. Absent donor stipulations regarding how long those donated asscts must be
maintained, GFA reports expirations of donor restrictions when the donated or acquired
assets are placed in service as instructed by the donor. GFA reclassifics temporarily
restricted net assets to unrestricted net assets at that time. Property and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
individual assets. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Estimated
Useful Life

Land N/A
Office building and improvements 10 to 40 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 10 years
Vehicles 3 years

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment amounted to $532,301 and
$522,640 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Short term investments

Equity securities are classified as “available-for-sale” as defined by the current
authoritative literature, Accounting for Certain Debt and Equity Securities. Available-
for-sale securities represent those securities that do not meet the classifications of held-to-
maturity or actively traded. Available-for-sale securities are carried at market value.

In accordance with this Statement, equity securities are reported at aggregate fair value
with unrealized gains and losses included in the statement of activities.

Assets held in the charitable remainder unitrust, charitable gift annuity and revocable
intents to give are classificd as available-for-sale and valued at market value.

Investments in real estate are valued at their fair value, as determined by a current market
appraisal. Other investments are valucd at their estimated market value bascd on resale

values.

The cost of securities sold was determined by the specific identification method.

Statement of cash flows

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, GFA considers all unrestricted, highly-
liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
GFA uses the indirect mcthod to present cash flows from operating activitics. There
were no noncash investing or financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2013

and 2012.
Long-lived assets

GFA’s policy is to periodically review the net realizable value of its long-lived assets
through an assessment of the estimated future cash flows related to such assets. In the
event that assets are found to be carried at amounts in excess of estimated undiscounted
future cash flows, then the assets will be adjusted for impairment to a level
commensurate with a discounted cash flow analysis of the underlying assets. The
Company believes no impairment of long-lived assets existed at December 31, 2013.

Fair value measurements

GFA has adopted the provisions of authoritative guidance which defines fair value as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the exit
price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurcment date.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurements

In determining fair value, GFA uses various valuation approaches. A fair value hierarchy
for inputs is used in measuring fair value which maximizes the usc of observable inputs
and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable
inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are those that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources
independent of the Organization. Unobservable inputs reflect the Organization's
assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair
value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

Level ] — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Organization has the ability to access. Valuation adjustments
and block discounts are not applied to Level 1 securities. Since valuations arc based on
quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active market, valuation of
these securities does not entail a significant degrec of judgment.

Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all
significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall
fair value measurement.

Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Organization in determining fair
value is greatest for investments categorized in Level 3. In certain cases, the inputs used
to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such
cases, for disclosure purposes, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair
value measurement in its entirety falls is detcrmined based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement.

Federal income taxes

GFA is a not-for-profit organization exempt from fedcral income taxes under Internal
Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3). Accordingly, no provision for federal income taxes has
been made.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Deccember 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Federal income taxes

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued authoritative guidance which
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial
statements. This guidance requires the evaluation of tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in the course of preparing the Organization’s financial statements to determine
whether the tax positions are more likely than not of being sustained by the applicable tax
authority. Even an income tax provision of zero constitutes a tax position as defined by
the FASB. Tax positions not deemed to meet the more likely than not threshold would be
recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year. A reconciliation is not provided
herein, as the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized benefits are zcro, with no
interim additions, reductions, or settlements. However, the conclusions regarding this
authoritative guidance will be subject to review and may be adjusted at a later date based
on factors including, but not limited to, ongoing analysis of tax laws, regulations, and
interpretations thereof.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year balances to conform with
current year presentation. There was no effect on the change in net assets for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

NOTE B - INVESTMENTS

The gross unrealized gains (losses) and estimated fair values of investments at December 31,
2013 and 2012, are as follows:

2013 2012
Gross Gross
Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair
Gain (L.oss) Value Gain (Loss) Value
Available-for-sale securities
Assets held in trust $ 65,750 $ 998,240 $ - $ 932,490
Real estate - 357,611 - 359,600
Miscellancous - 404,019 - 384,218
$ 65,750 $1,759.,870 $ - $1,676,308
-13-
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE B - INVESTMENTS

Marketable securities and other investments at December 31, 2013 and 2012, consist of gifts in
kind contributed at or near year end; thus, there are no material unrealized gains or losses on
those investments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. The unrealized gain of $65,750 on the
assets held in trust is included in unrestricted gifts in kind contributions at December 31, 2013.

NOTE C - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following table sets forth the carrying amounts and estimated fair values by level, within the
fair value hierarchy, of the Organization’s financial assets as of December 31, 201 3 and 2012.

Assets at Fair Value

as of December 31, 2013
Carrying
Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $14,112,769  $14,112,769 $ - $ -
Investments
Gifts in kind $ 1,759,870 $ - $ 1,065,789 $ 694,081
Assets held under CRUT 74,670 - 74,670 -
Assets held under
charitable gift
annuities 21,248 - 21,248 -
Assets held under
revocable intents to
give 286,255 - 286,255 -
$ 2,142,043 $ - $ 1,447,962 $ 694,081
Financial liabilities
Liabilities related to split-
interest agreements $ 322557 § - $ 322557 § -
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE C - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets at Fair Value

as of December 31, 2012
Carrying
Amount Level 1 Level 2 level 3
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $20,022,338  $20,022,338 $ - $ -
Investments
Gifts in kind $ 1,676,308 $ - $ 869,565 $ 806,743
Assets held under CRUT 67,022 - 67,022 -
Assets held under gift
annuities
19,595 - 19,595 -
Assets held under
revocable intents to
give 275,063 - 275,063 -
$ 2,037,988 $ - $ 1,231,245 $ 806,743
Financial liabilities
Liabilities related to split-
interest agreements $ 313,700 $ - $ 313,700 $ -
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2013 and 2012

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair
value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used as of December 31, 2013.

Cash and cash equivalents are reflected in the accompanying financial statements at amounts
which approximate fair value, primarily because of the short-term maturity of those instruments.

Assets held under CRUT, charitable gift annuities and revocable intents to give are reflected in
the accompanying financial statements at the fair market value of the underlying investments

held in those specific accounts.

Gifts in Kind Investments consist of the following:

Value at Value at
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
10 acre tract of land given in 2008, valued by
independent appraisal and subsequent review
of market values in the area $ 214,600 214,600
Tandem mausoleum crypt, given in 2008, valued
at market 2,900 2,900
50,000 Iraqi Dinars given in 2009, valued at
market - -
Gold and silver coins, valued at market 141,295 141,295
40 acre tract of land given in 2012, valued by
independent appraisal and subsequent review
of market values in the arca - 70.000
House and property in Maryland, valued by
independent appraisal and subsequent review
of market values in the area 75,000 75,000
A Trust including Morgan Stanley investments,
alternative investments and 50% of an airplane
hangar 1.198,240 1,132,490
Half interest in 2 parcels of land in MS 68.011 .
Other 59,824 40,023
Total gifts in kind $ 1,759,870 $ 1,676,308

Liabilities Related to Split Interest Agreements are valued based on the present value of future
payments using various discount rates.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE C - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of
net realizable value or predictive of future fair values. Although the Organization belicves its
valuation methods are appropriate, different assumptions could result in a different fair value

measurement at the financial statement date.

NOTE D - INVENTORY

Inventory consists of the following at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013
Books, videos, CDs, and miscellaneous literature $ 225,080
Prepaid supplies 264,454
Total inventory $ 489,534

2012
$ 238,647
297,139
$ 535,786

NOTE E - PREPAID EXPENSES

Prepaid expenses consist primarily of prepaid support and maintenance contracts and prepaid

booth costs at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

NOTE F - SPLIT-INTEREST AGREEMENTS

GFA has the following split-interest agreements as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Charitable remainder unitrust agreement

GFA administers a charitable remainder unitrust (CRUT) that provides for the payment
of distributions to the grantor or other designated beneficiary over the designated
beneficiary’s lifetime. At the end of the trust’s term, the remaining assets arc available
for GFA’s use. The portion of the trust attributable to the future interest of GFA was
recorded in the statement of activities as temporarily restricted contributions in the period
the trust was established. Assets held in the charitable remainder unitrust are recorded at

fair market value in GFA’s statement of financial position.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE F - SPLIT-INTEREST AGREEMENTS
Charitable remainder unitrust agreement

On an annual basis, GFA revalues the liability to make distributions to the designated
beneficiary based on actuarial assumptions. The present value for the estimated future
payments is calculated using a discount rate of 7% and applicable mortality tables.
Subsequent changes in fair value for the charitable remainder unitrust will be recorded as
changes in the value of split-interest agreements in the temporarily restricted net assets
class in the accompanying statement of activities.

Charitable annuity

GFA 1s the administrator of a charitable gift annuity that provides for the payment of
distributions to the annuitant or other designated beneficiary over the designated
beneficiary’s lifetime. At the cnd of the annuity’s term, the remaining assets are
available for GFA’s use. The portion of the annuity attributable to the future interest of
GFA was recorded in the statement of activities as temporarily restricted contributions in
the period the annuity was established. Assets held in the gift annuity are recorded at fair
market value in GFA’s statement of financial position. The present value for the
estimated future payments was calculated using a discount rate of 6% based on applicablc
mortality tables creating a fixed annual payment of $900 to the annuitant. Subsequent
changes in fair value for the gift annuities will be recorded as changes in the value of
split-interest agreements in the temporarily restricted nct assets class in the
accompanying statement of activities.

Revocable intents to give

GFA is the beneficiary of several revocable intents to give. The assets related to these
revocable agreements and the corresponding liabilities for refundable advances are
included in the statement of financial position at fair market value. These intents to give
are revocable at any time by the donors, in whole or in part, with 30 days written notice
to GFA.

NOTE G - DONATED SERVICES

No amounts have been reflected in the financial statements for donated services. GFA pays for
most services requiring specific expertise. However, many individuals volunteer their time to
perform a variety of tasks that assist GFA with its USA operations.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE H - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

GFA made contributions to five related non-profit organizations: Gospel for Asia - India,
Gospel for Asia - Nepal, Gospel for Asia - Myanmar, Gospel for Asia - Sri Lanka and Gospel for
Asia - Bangladesh. The organizations are related through a common board member. The
contribution amounts at December 31, 2013 and 2012, are as follows:

2013 2012
Gospel for Asia - India $58.542.900 $45.592,657
Gospel for Asia - Nepal 856,213 881,349
Gospel for Asia - Myanmar 1,006,440 775,520
Gospel for Asia - Sri Lanka 304,650 364,100
Gospel for Asia - Bangladesh 192,455 167,000

$60,902,658 $47,780,626

GFA paid approximately $225.840 and $280,852 on behalf of Gospel for Asia - United
Kingdom, Gospel for Asia - Canada, Gospel for Asia - Germany, Gospel for Asia - New
Zealand, Gospel for Asia - South Africa, Gospel for Asia - Australia and Gospel for Asia —
Korea — Gospel for Asia - Finland during 2013 and 2012, respectively, to assist them in their
operations. These amounts are not required to be repaid by the entities, but Gospel for Asia -
Canada is reimbursing GFA for payments made on their behalf.

The Organization began establishing LLCs in 2009 primarily to facilitate the transfer of funds to
the mission field. Each LLC has a separate bank account whereby funds arc transferred from
GFA and subsequently transferred from the LLC to the mission field. Therc were 12 of these
LLCs as of December 31, 2013.

In August 2011, GFA transferred $9,000,000 to GFA - India (an affiliate related through a
common board member) in anticipation of earning more favorable interest rates than those of a
domestic bank. These funds were temporarily restricted for the construction of a new home
office. Accordingly, GFA recorded a receivable due from affiliate of $9,000,000 at December

31, 2011. GFA collected the balance due in 2012.

NOTE I - FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN

On January 1, 1994, GFA adopted a flcxible benefits plan. The plan allows employees to use
pre-tax payroll deductions to fund optional medical, cancer, intensive care, hospital indemnity
and/or accident insurance, among others. An unreimbursed medical flexible spending account
option was added on January 16, 2001. All staff are eligible to participate immediately upon

joining the organization.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE J - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

GFA maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured
limits. At December 31, 2013, GFA’s bank balances exceeded federally insured limits by
$11,286,742. At December 31, 2012, GFA’s bank balances did not exceed these federally
insured limits. GFA has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not
exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

During 2013, GFA received a temporarily restricted contribution from an anonymous donor in
the amount of $19,778,613 to be used for the construction of the new home office.

NOTEK -- FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE ALLOCATION

Directly identifiable expenses are charged to program and support services. Expenses related to
more than one function are charged to program and support services on the basis of periodic time
and expense studies. Management and general expenses include those expenses that are not
directly identifiable with any other specific function but provide for the overall support and

direction of the Organization.

The functional expense allocation at December 31, 2013, is as follows:

Total Program Management Fund
Description Expenses Services and General Raising
Accounting and legal $ 41,443 $ - $ 41443 $ -
Automobile expense 22,779 - 22,779 -
Bank and credit card fees 615,456 - 615,456 -
Building expenscs 249,916 85,121 105,115 59,680
Café 8,232 - 8,232 -
Depreciation 532,301 181,302 223,886 127,113
Equipment repairs 20,498 6,982 8.621 4,895
Health insurance 968,738 329,371 406,870 232.497
Membership fees 12,939 461 12,017 461
Ministry presentations 2,817.618 1,406,635 3,780 1,407,203
Field support 57,101,130 57,101,130 - -
Office supplies and expense 404,011 134,597 175,046 94,368
Operating supplies 41,743 14,218 17,557 9,968
Other costs and expenses 226,486 - 226,486 -
Payroll taxes 19,228 6,549 8,087 4,592
Planned giving expenses 11,109 - 3,346 7,763
Postage and freight 1,366,509 482,334 347,291 536,884
Printing costs 1,055,283 421916 52,283 581,084
Staff costs 3.267,052 1,108,214 1,381,787 777,051
-20-
Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 137  Date Filed: 02/15/2017 Entry ID: 4502195



Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Document 1-7  Filed 02/08/16 Page 23 of 25 PagelD #: 106

GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE K - FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE ALLOCATION

Total Program Management Fund
Description Expenses Services and General Raising
Staff recruitment $ 1,213 $ - $ 1,213 $ -
Storage 6,098 2,077 2,565 1,456
Telephone 129,991 44,275 54,674 31,042
Training 20,291 8,262 4,098 7,931
Travel expense 325,380 240,515 9,064 75,801

$ 69,265,444 $ 61,573,959 $ 3,731,696 $ 3,959,789

The functional expense allocation at December 31, 2012, is as follows:

Total Program Management Fund
Description Expenses Services and General Raising
Accounting and legal $ 24,483 $ - $ 24,483 $ -
Automobile expense 16,974 - 16,974 -
Bank and credit card fees 499,524 - 499,524 -
Building expenses 249,299 82,269 108,295 58,735
Café 11,518 - 11,518 -
Depreciation 522,640 172,472 227,034 123,134
Equipment repairs 4,076 1.345 1,771 960
Health insurance 825,006 272,252 358,383 194,371
Membership fecs 14,027 1,877 10,273 1,877
Ministry presentations 2,854,452 1,406,287 50,133 1,398,032
Field support 54.407,632 54,407,632 - -
Office supplies and expense 483,504 159,441 210,232 113,831
Operating supplies 46,723 15,421 20,294 11,008
Other costs and expenses 147,819 - 147,819 -
Payroll taxes 12,220 4,033 5,308 2,879
Planned giving expenses 24,233 - - 24,233
Postage and freight 1,679,357 589,129 415,761 674,467
Printing costs 1,244,458 524,089 46,643 673,726
Staff costs 3,115,588 1,025,365 1,358.174 732,049
Staff recruitment 2,917 - 2917 -
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE K - FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE ALLOCATION

Total Program Management Fund
Description Expenses Services and General Raising
Storage $ 15279 $ 5,042 $ 6,637 $ 3,600
Telephone 105,636 34,860 45,888 24,888
Training 12,200 5,377 1,805 5,018
Travel expense 241,339 165,838 10,856 64,645

$ 66,560,904 $ 58,872,729 $ 3,580,722 $ 4,107,453

NOTE L — CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE AND ACCRUED FIELD SUPPORT

Subsequent to December 31, 2013 and 2012, a significant amount of contributions were received
with a postmark date of December 31 or prior. It is GFA’s policy to include such contributions
as current year revenuc. Due to a large amount of cash received subsequent to December 31,
2013 and 2012, with a postmark of December 31 or prior but not yet recorded as cash, a
receivable in the amount of $3,025,953 and $3.133,527 has been recorded as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. Consequently, since these contributions are not included in cash
until a few days after December 31, 2013 and 2012, the field portion of these amounts is
included in the accrued field support balances of $5,455,256 and $10,085,807, as of December
31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The accrued field support amount represcnts 2013 and 2012
revenue reccived that was not disbursed to the field on or before December 31, 2013 and 2012.
No allowance for doubtful accounts is necessary at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

NOTE M - NOTE RECEIVABLE

In December 2010, GFA sold real estate located in Kingman, AZ, that had been received as a gift
in kind contribution in July 2010. GFA received a note receivable in the amount of $324,000 in
conjunction with the sale with an annual intercst rate of 8%. The term of the note is 5.5 years and
matures in June 2016. GFA receives monthly payments of $5,600 on the note. GFA recorded
interest income of $14,309 and $18,564 related to this note reccivable as of December 31, 2013

and 2012, respectively.
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GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

NOTE N - CONSTRUCTION OF NEW HOME OFFICE

The Organization is constructing a new home office in East Texas. Land for the new office in
the amount of $1,104,398 is included in land, buildings and improvements at December 31, 2013
and 2012. Construction in progress costs totaling $29,217.499 and $5,015,495 arc included in
land, buildings and improvements at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Temporarily
restricted net assets restricted to the new home office totaled $7.301.819 and $10,660,781 at

December 31, 2013 and 2012.

NOTE O - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to December 31, 2013, GFA incurred costs totaling approximately $6,578,326
related to the construction of the new home office (Notc N).

The Organization has cvaluated and disclosed subsequent events up to and including June 13,
2014, which is the date the financial statements were approved and available for issuance.

223-
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

MATTHEW DICKSON and JENNIFER 8§
DICKSON, individually and on behalf of all §
others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

V. CASE NO. 5:16-CV-5027 PKH
GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC., GOSPEL FOR
ASIA-INTERNATIONAL, K.P.
YOHANNAN, GISELA PUNNOSE, DANIEL
PUNNOSE, DAVID CARROLL, and PAT
EMERICK

wn W W W W W W W W W W W W

Defendants.

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND TO STAY
PROCEEDING PENDING ARBITRATION

Defendants Gospel for Asia, Inc. (“GFA”), Gospel for Asia-International (“GFA-
International”)!, K.P. Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat
Emerick (the “Individual Defendants”) (collectively, GFA, GFA-International, and the
Individual Defendants are referred to herein as “Defendants”), state as their Motion to Compel
Acrbitration and to Stay Proceeding Pending Arbitration, the following:

1. GFA is a Texas non-profit organization and a Christian religious order. See
Declaration of David Carroll (“Carroll Dec.”) 42. A true and correct copy of the Carroll Dec. is
attached hereto as Exhibit 1. The Carroll Dec. and its exhibits are incorporated herein by

reference.

! GFA-International does not currently exist.

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND TO STAY PROCEEDING
PENDING ARBITRATION PAGE 1
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2. Plaintiffs Matthew Dickson and Jennifer Dickson (the “Dicksons” or “Plaintiffs)
are former members of the Christian religious order, GFA. Id. 13-5.

3. Mr. Dickson is also a former employee of GFA. Id. 15.

4. Contemporaneous with Mr. Dickson’s commencement of his employment with
GFA, Mr. Dickson signed a Statement of Agreement (“Agreement”) that included an agreement
to arbitrate any dispute related to his relationship with GFA. 1d. 13 and Ex. 1-A. Mr. Dickson
and Mrs. Dickson signed updated Statements of Agreement in 2009. Id. 14 and Exs. 1-B and 1-
C. True and correct copies of the Dicksons’ signed Statements of Agreement are attached to the
Carroll Dec. and are incorporated herein by reference.

5. Each Plaintiff signed the Agreement, which provides in relevant part:

| agree that any and all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship

between myself and GFA, or any other GFA member, shall be resolved by way of

conciliation, or mediation, the parties agreeing that the matter will be submitted

to final and binding arbitration in accordance with the rules and procedures set

forth in the Unified Arbitration Act. Accordingly, | knowingly and willingly

waive any and all rights to initiate any action before any administrative agency or

court of law or equity.

Ex. 1-Aat p. 4, Exs. 1-B and 1-C at p. 3 (emphasis added).

6. Plaintiffs filed this action alleging violations of the Racketeer Influenced and
Corrupt Organizations (“RICO”) Act, common law fraud, violations of the Arkansas Deceptive
Trade Practices Act (“ADTPA”), and unjust enrichment. See generally Complaint.

7. The Agreement is a valid arbitration agreement and the dispute is within the

arbitration agreement’s scope.

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND TO STAY PROCEEDING
PENDING ARBITRATION PAGE 2
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8. Arbitration should be compelled pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act (the
“FAA”), 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.

9. The case should be stayed in favor of arbitration pursuant to Section 3 of the
FAA.

10.  Defendants are submitting a brief in support of this motion.

WHEREFORE, Defendants Gospel for Asia, Inc., Gospel for Asia-International, K.P.
Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat Emerick pray the Court: (i)
compel Plaintiffs to arbitrate the claims; and (ii) stay this proceeding pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 3

until such arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement to arbitrate.

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND TO STAY PROCEEDING
PENDING ARBITRATION PAGE 3
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DATED: April 15, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

/sl _Steven Shults

Debra K. Brown, Ark. Bar No. 80068
dbrown@shultslaw.com

Steven Shults, Ark. Bar No. 78139
sshults@shultslaw.com

SHULTS & BROWN, LLP

200 West Capitol Avenue, Suite 1600
Little Rock, AR 72201-3637
Telephone: (501) 375-2301

LocKE LORD LLP

Harriet Miers

TX State Bar No. 00000067 (Admitted pro hac vice)
hmiers@lockelord.com

Robert T. Mowrey

TX State Bar No. 14607500 (Admitted pro hac vice)
rmowrey@Ilockelord.com

Paul F. Schuster

TX State Bar No. 00784931 (Admitted pro hac vice)
pschuster@lockelord.com

Jason L. Sanders

TX State Bar No. 24037428 (Admitted pro hac vice)
jsanders@lockelord.com

2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 2800

Dallas, Texas 75201-6776

Telephone: (214) 740-8000

Facsimile: (214) 740-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| certify that, on April 15, 2016, | electronically filed the foregoing document with the
Clerk of the Court, to be served by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system on the
attorneys of record.

Woodson W. Bassett 111 Marc. R. Stanley
wbassett@bassettlawfirm.com marcstanley@mac.com

James Graves Martin Woodward
jgraves@bassettlawfirm.com mwoodward@stanleylawgroup.com
BASSETT LAW FIRM LLP STANLEY LAW GROUP

221 North College Avenue 6116 N. Central Expressway, Suite 1500
P.O. Box 3618 Dallas, Texas 75206

Fayetteville, Arkansas 72702 Telephone: (214) 443-4300

Telephone: (479) 521-9996 Facsimile: (214) 443-0358

Facsimile: (479) 521-9600

Counsel for Plaintiffs & the Class
Counsel for Plaintiffs & the Class

Tom Mills
tmills@millsandwilliams.com

MiLLS & WILLIAMS, LLP

5910 N. Central Expressway, Suite 980
Dallas, Texas 75206

Telephone: (214) 265-9265

Facsimile: (214) 361-3167

Counsel for Plaintiffs & the Class

/s/ Steven Shults
Steven Shults

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND TO STAY PROCEEDING
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

MATTHEW DICKSON and JENNIFER §
DICKSON, individually and on behalf of all §
others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

V. CASE NO. 5:16-CV-5027 PKH
GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC., GOSPEL FOR
ASIA-INTERNATIONAL, K.P.
YOHANNAN, GISELA PUNNOSE, DANIEL
PUNNOSE, DAVID CARROLL, and PAT
EMERICK

Defendants.
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DECLARATION OF DAVID CARROLL

1. My name is David Carroll. 1 am over the age of twenty-one (21), am of sound mind, and
have never been convicted of a felony or crime of moral turpitude. 1 am capable of
making this declaration, and I have personal knowledge of the facts set forth below, and
such facts are true and correct.

2. I joined the GFA staff in 1992, and 1 have been a member of the Gospel for Asia
Christian religious order since 1995. T am currently employed by Gespel for Asia, Inc.
(“GFA™) in the position of Chief Operating Officer. GFA is currently located in Wills
Point, Texas, and was previously located in Carrollton, Texas. In addition to my personal
knowledge, by reason of my position 1 am authorized and qualified to make this

declaration, either as custodian of records or otherwise.

DECLARATION OF DAVID CARROLL PAGE 1

EXHIBIT 1
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9.

10.

11.

Attached hereto as Exhibits 1-A is the “Statement of Agreement” signed by Matthew
Dickson on or about July 30, 2007. That agreement was signed contemporaneous with
Mr. Dickson’s commencement of his employment with GFA.

Attached hereto as Exhibits 1-B and 1-C, respectively, are updated “Statements of
Agreement” signed by Matthew Dickson (Ex. 1-B) and Jennifer Dickson (Ex. 1-B) on or
about March 18, 2009.

Matthew Dickson was employed by GFA for nearly five (§) years, from 2007 - 2012.
While Matthew Dickson was employed by GFA, he and his wife were part of the GFA
community in Carrollton, Texas. Accordingly, it is my understanding that, in addition to
performing under the Statements of Agreement in Texas, Matthew Dickson and Jennifer
Dickson cach signed and entered into each of those agreements in Texas.

From 2004 — 2014, Matthew Dickson and Jennifer Dickson made donations to GFA.

In addition to Mr. Dickson receiving employment, the Dicksons received training and
other benefits by signing the Statements of Agreement and becoming members of GFA.
Based on his membership in the GFA Christian religious order, Matthew Dickson applied
for a tax exemption, and GFA sent a letter to the IRS related to that application and noted
that he was a member in good standing.,

As a general matter, members of GFA agree to Biblical reconciliation and arbitration.
K.P. Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, and Pat Emerick and myself are each
committed to Biblical dispute resolution and arbitration.

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, | declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true

and correct.

DECLARATION OF DAVID CARROLL Page?2

EXHIBIT 1
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Executed on April /ﬂ , 2016.

%/7/{4/

David Carroll

DECLARATION OF DAVID CARROLL ' PAGE 3

EXHIBIT 1
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STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT

As a Religious Order, Gospel for Asia (GFA) is wholeheartedly committed to reaching the lost in
Asia with the Good News of salvation through our Lord Jesus Christ.

MISSION STATEMENT

Gospel for Asia exists for the following purposes:

1.

To help evangelize and win to Christ the untold millions in third world Asian
countries;

To build up Asian believers in Christian faith, character, world evangelism and
knowledge of our Lord Jesus Christ;

To support by prayer and finances the national ministries of the Gospel of Jesus
Christ in Asia;

To inform Christians in the West of the needs, and the effectiveness of native
missionaries; and to provide opportunities for involvement through prayer,
sponsorship, volunteer help, or project giving.

To see local New Testament churches planted throughout the Asian countries through
the work of native missionaries.

As a member of Gospel for Asia, | agree to give my life totally for the task of reaching the
unreached of Asia by working toward the fulfillment of the Missions Statement above. I further
agree not to entertain any distractions from this God-given calling, i.e. other job opportunities,
ministry opportunities, goals, ambitions, education, vocation, etc.

-1-
EXHIBIT 1-A
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STATEMENT OF FAITH

WE BELIEVE in the verbal inspiration of the Bible, that both the Old and New
Testaments constitute the divinely inspired Word of God, the final authority for life and
truth.

WE BELIEVE in one God, eternally existing in the Holy Trinity of Father, Son, and Holy
Spirit, each with personality and deity.

WE BELIEVE in the virgin birth of Jesus Christ, His atoning death and glorious
resurrection, and in the visible and personal return of Jesus Christ to this earth. We
believe that He purchased for us a finished salvation, and it is ours solely by grace
through faith. Also, that we are sealed by the Holy Spirit and kept by the power of God
through faith unto salvation, ready to be revealed in the last day.

WE BELIEVE that the Holy Spirit convicts, converts and continues the work of grace in
a believer. We believe that heaven is the home for God and His children, and that hell is
the home for the devil and his children.

WE BELIEVE in New Testament soul winning, the separated Christian life, and the local
church.

I agree with the Statement of Faith listed above as affirming my own beliefs and desire to serve
in accordance with it. [ further agree that should my views change regarding any point of the
above Statement of Faith, 1 will immediately report the change to the appropriate officers.

-

EXHIBIT 1-A
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MORAL CONVICTIONS AND LIFESTYLE

1 agree to live my life in a manner morally consistent with Biblical values and commandments
and to flee from every appearance of evil. Although some things may be areas of freedom in
Christ, T agree to abstain from any social habits that might lessen my ministry effectiveness and
ability to represent our Lord and Gospel for Asia, including use of illegal drugs, tobacco, and
alcohol, sexual immorality, immodest dress, offensive language, "R" or "X" rated movies, and
gambling.

Fagree to live frugally at a level necessary to meet my basic needs as set by GFA.

[ agree to diligently work at raising and maintaining a prayer and financial support team to cover
my total living expenses.

[ agree to relate to fellow members of GFA as a family community by residing within close
proximity to other members, meeting together regularly for prayer, fellowship, teaching, and
encouraging one another, and helping other members as needs arise.

1 agree to preserve and promote unity of the Spirit through the bonds of peace, fo walk in the
light of truth and settle disagreements quickly, Biblically, prayerfully and to never intentionally
walk in a manner which would grieve the Holy Spirit.

I agree to make every effort to gather on time for all GFA prayer meetings as well as to uphold
the praises and requests of the ministry during personal prayer times.

I agree to submit to the established authority structure of GFA, and to discuss any grievances
with my immediate supervisor.

I agree to maintain a daily personal devotional life of Bible reading, worship and prayer.

3

EXHIBIT 1-A
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FURTHER COMMITMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS

I agree to serve the Lord through Gospel for Asia for a minimum of two years following the
successful completion of my training and probationary period.

1 have carefully read and understand the policies put forth in the Gospel for Asia Human
Resource Policy and Procedure Handbook and agree to abide by them to the best of my ability. |
further understand that failure to do so could result in termination of membership.

I understand that I shall have no authority to enter into any contract or obligation on behalf of
GFA, unless authorized by GFA's board of directors to do so.

I agree that any and all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship between myself and
GFA, or any other GFA member, shall be resolved by way of conciliation, or mediation, the
parties agreeing that the matter will be submitted to final and binding arbitration in accordance
with the rules and procedures set forth in the Unified Arbitration Act. Accordingly, I knowingly
and willingly waive any and all rights to initiate any action before any administrative agency or
court of law or equity.

This Agreement between Gospel for Asia and the undersigned has been entered into after
prayerful consideration on the part of both parties. All commitments contained herein have been
made freely and voluntarily. There are no promises made by either party to the other regarding
anything not mentioned in this Agreement.

Member's printed name MarimEw Dickson

_ P2 I G 7/20/c
Signature_ v t25 A Date_7/20/07

I

Training and probationary period were successfully completed on:

Date Department Coordinator

I consider that I first made this commitment when 1 joined the Order on or about

Date

—4 -
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BN, GOSPEL FOR ASIA

reaching the most unreached

STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT

As a Religious Order, Gospel for Asia (GFA) is wholeheartedly committed to reaching the lost
in Asia with the Good News of salvation through our Lord Jesus Christ.

A. MISSION STATEMENT

Gospel for Asia exists for the following purposes:

1. To help evangelize and win to Christ the untold millions in third world Asian
countries;

2. To build up Asian believers in Christian faith, character, world evangelism and
knowledge of our Lord Jesus Christ;

3. To support by prayer and finances the national ministries of the Gospel of Jesus
Christ in Asia;

4. To inform Christians in the West of the needs, and the effectiveness of native
missionaries; and to provide opportunities for involvement through prayer,
sponsorship, volunteer help, or project giving,

5. To see local New Testament churches planted throughout the Asian countries
through the work of native missionaries.

As a member of Gospel for Asia, | agree to give my life totally for the task of reaching the
unreached of Asia by working toward the fulfillment of the Missions Statement above. |
further agree not to entertain any distractions from this God-given calling, i.e. other job
opportunities, ministry opportunities, goals, ambitions, education, vocation, etc.

B. STATEMENT OF FAITH

WE BELIEVE in the verbal inspiration of the Bible, that both the Old and New
Testaments constitute the divinely inspired Word of God, the final authority for life
and truth,

WE BELIEVE in one God, eternally existing in the Holy Trinity of Father, Son, and Holy
Spirit, each with perscnality and deity.

WE BELIEVE in the virgin birth of Jesus Christ, His atoning death and glorious
resurrection, and in the visible and personal return of Jesus Christ to this earth. We
believe that He purchased for us a finished salvation, and it is ours solely by grace

EXHIBIT 1-B
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through faith. Also, that we are sealed by the Holy Spirit and kept by the power of
God through faith unto salvation, ready to be revealed in the last day.

WE BELIEVE that the Holy Spirit convicts, converts and continues the work of grace in
a believer. We believe that heaven is the home for God and His children, and that hell
is the home for the devil and his children,

WE BELIEVE in New Testament soul winning, the separated Christian life, and the local
church.

| agree with the Statement of Faith listed above as affirming my own beliefs and desire to
serve in accordance with it. | further agree that should my views change regarding any point
of the above Statement of Faith, | will immediately report the change to the appropriate
officers.

C. MORAL CONVICTIONS AND LIFESTYLE

I agree to live my life in a manner morally consistent with Biblical values and commandments
and to flee from every appearance of evil. Although some things may be areas of freedom in
Christ, | agree to abstain from any social habits that might lessen my ministry effectiveness
and ability to represent our Lord and Gospel for Asia, including use of illegal drugs, tobacco,
and alcohol, sexual immoratity, immodest dress, offensive language, movies that contain
ungodly content, and gambting.

| agree to live frugally at a level necessary to meet my basic needs as set by GFA.

| agree to diligently work at raising and maintaining a prayer and financial support team to
cover my total living expenses.

| agree to relate to fellow members of GFA as a family community by residing within close
proximity to other members, meeting together regularly for prayer, fellowship, teaching, and
encouraging one another, and helping other members as needs arise.

| agree to preserve and promote unity of the Spirit through the bonds of peace, to walk in the
light of truth and settle disagreements quickly, Biblically, prayerfully and to never
intentionally walk in a manner which would grieve the Holy Spirit.

| agree to make every effort to gather on time for all GFA prayer meetings as well as to
uphold the praises and requests of the ministry during personal prayer times.

| agree to submit to the established authority structure of GFA, and to discuss any grievances
with my immediate supervisor.

f agree to maintain a daily personal devotional life of Bible reading, worship and prayer.

EXHIBIT 1-B
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D. FURTHER COMMITMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS

| agree to serve the Lord through Gospel for Asia for a minimum of two years following the
successful completion of my training and probationary period.

| have carefully read and understand the policies put forth in the Gospel for Asia Human
Resource Policy and Procedure Handbook and agree to abide by them to the best of my
ability. | further understand that failure to do so could result in termination of membership.

| understand that | shall have no authority to enter into any contract or obligation on behalf
of GFA, unless authorized by GFA's board of directors to do so.

| agree that any and all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship between myself
and GFA, or any other GFA member, shall be resolved by way of conciliation, or mediation,
the parties agreeing that the matter will be submitted to final and binding arbitration in
accordance with the rules and procedures set forth in the Unified Arbitration Act.
Accordingly, | knowingly and willingly waive any and all rights to initiate any action before
any administrative agency or court of law or equity.

This Agreement between Gospel for Asia and the undersigned has been entered into after
prayerful consideration on the part of both parties. All commitments contained herein have
been made freely and voluntarily. There are no promises made by either party to the other
regarding anything not mentioned in this Agreement.

Print Member Name Mﬁ'—? TTHEW 5. Diciesons

Signature of Member Date »3/ 15 /97

Amended 2/3/09 EXHIBIT 1-B
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N@f GOSPEL FOR ASIA

w reaching the most unreached

STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT

As a Religious Order, Gospel for Asia (GFA) is wholeheartedly committed to reaching the lost
in Asia with the Good News of salvation through our Lord Jesus Christ.

A. MISSION STATEMENT

Gospel for Asia exists for the following purposes:

1. To help evangelize and win to Christ the untold millions in third world Asian
countries;

2. To build up Asian believers in Christian faith, character, world evangelism and
knowledge of our Lord Jesus Christ;

3. To support by prayer and finances the national ministries of the Gospel of Jesus
Christ in Asia;

4, Toinform Christians in the West of the needs, and the effectiveness of native
missionaries; and to provide opportunities for involvement through prayer,
sponsorship, volunteer help, or project giving.

5. To see local New Testament churches planted throughout the Asian countries
through the work of native missionaries.

As a member of Gospel for Asia, | agree to give my life totally for the task of reaching the
unreached of Asia by working toward the fulfillment of the Missions Statement above, |
further agree not to entertain any distractions from this God-given calling, i.e. other job
opportunities, ministry opportunities, goals, ambitions, education, vocation, etc.

B. STATEMENT OF FAITH

WE BELIEVE in the verbal inspiration of the Bible, that both the Old and New
Testaments constitute the divinely inspired Word of God, the final authority for life
and truth.

WE BELIEVE in one God, eternally existing in the Holy Trinity of Father, Son, and Holy
Spirit, each with personality and deity.

WE BELIEVE in the virgin birth of Jesus Christ, His atoning death and glorious
resurrection, and in the visible and personal return of Jesus Christ to this earth. We
believe that He purchased for us a finished salvation, and it is ours solely by grace

EXHIBIT 1-C
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through faith. Also, that we are sealed by the Holy Spirit and kept by the power of
God through faith unto salvation, ready to be revealed in the last day.

WE BELIEVE that the Holy Spirit convicts, converts and continues the work of grace in
a believer. We believe that heaven is the home for God and His children, and that hell
is the home for the devil and his children,

WE BELIEVE in New Testament soul winning, the separated Christian life, and the local
church.

| agree with the Statement of Faith listed above as affirming my own beliefs and desire to
serve in accordance with it. | further agree that should my views change regarding any point
of the above Statement of Faith, | will immediately report the change to the appropriate
officers.

C. MORAL CONVICTIONS AND LIFESTYLE

| agree to live my life in a manner morally consistent with Biblical values and commandments
and to flee from every appearance of evil. Although some things may be areas of freedom in
Christ, | agree to abstain from any social habits that might lessen my ministry effectiveness
and ability to represent our Lord and Gospel for Asia, including use of illegal drugs, tobacco,
and alcohol, sexual immorality, immodest dress, offensive language, movies that contain
ungodiy content, and gambling.

| agree to live frugally at a level necessary to meet my basic needs as set by GFA.

| agree to diligently work at raising and maintaining a prayer and financial support team to
cover my total living expenses.

| agree to relate to fellow members of GFA as a family community by residing within close
proximity to other members, meeting together regularly for prayer, fellowship, teaching, and
encouraging one another, and helping other members as needs arise.

| agree to preserve and promote unity of the Spirit through the bonds of peace, to walk in the
light of truth and settle disagreements quickly, Biblically, prayerfully and to never
intentionally walk in a manner which would grieve the Holy Spirit.

| agree to make every effort to gather on time for all GFA prayer meetings as well as to
uphold the praises and requests of the ministry during personal prayer times.

| agree to submit to the established authority structure of GFA, and to discuss any grievances
with my immediate supervisor.

| agree to maintain a daily personal devotional life of Bible reading, worship and prayer.

EXHIBIT 1-C
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D. FURTHER COMMITMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS

| agree to serve the Lord through Gospel for Asia for a minimum of two years following the
successful completion of my training and probationary peried.

| have carefully read and understand the policies put forth in the Gospel for Asia Human
Resource Policy and Procedure Handbook and agree to abide by them to the best of my
ability. | further understand that failure to do so could result in termination of membership.

t understand that | shall have no authority to enter into any contract or obligation on behalf
of GFA, unless authorized by GFA's board of directors to do so.

| agree that any and all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship between myself
and GFA, or any other GFA member, shall be resolved by way of conciliation, or mediation,
the parties agreeing that the matter will be submitted to final and binding arbitration in
accordance with the rules and procedures set forth in the Unified Arbitration Act.
Accordingly, | knowingly and willingly waive any and all rights to initiate any action before
any administrative agency or court of law or equity.

This Agreement between Gospel for Asia and the undersigned has been entered into after
prayerful consideration on the part of both parties. All commitments contained herein have
been made freely and voluntarily. There are no promises made by either party to the other
regarding anything not mentioned in this Agreement.

% ™ - . o
Print Member Name - .}Qmmgf% DRC ke

Signature of Member {_\J:J wmfu' A r@\j\k;\;b Date 3 / i§ / 09
O D 7 /

Amended 2/3/09 EXH_'?I_T 1'C
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Sent: Friday, April 15, 2016 2:14 PM

To: NEF@arwd.uscourts.gov

Subject: ECF 023 Activity in Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Dickson et al v. Gospel for ASIA, Inc. et al

Motion for Referral to Arbitration

Thisisan automatic e-mail message generated by the CM/ECF system. Please DO NOT RESPOND to
this e-mail because the mail box isunattended.

***NOTE TO PUBLIC ACCESS USERS*** Judicial Conference of the United States policy permits
attorneysof record and partiesin a case (including pro selitigants) to receive one free e ectronic copy of
all documentsfiled electronically, if receipt isrequired by law or directed by thefiler. PACER access fees
apply to all other users. To avoid later charges, download a copy of each document during thisfirst
viewing. However, if thereferenced document isatranscript, the free copy and 30 page limit do not

apply.
U. S. District Court
Western District of Arkansas
Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered by Shults, Steven on 4/15/2016 at 2:13 PM CDT and filed on 4/15/2016

Case Name: Dickson et a v. Gospel for ASIA, Inc. et d
Case Number: 5:16-cv-05027-PKH
Filer: David Carroll

Pat Emerick

Gospel for ASIA, Inc.
Gospel for ASIA-International
Daniel Punnose
Gisela Punnose
K.P. Yohannan
Document Number: 23

Docket Text:

MOTION for Referral to Arbitration Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Stay
Proceeding Pending Arbitration by David Carroll, Pat Emerick, Gospel for ASIA, Inc., Gospel
for ASIA-International, Daniel Punnose, Gisela Punnose, K.P. Yohannan. (Attachments: # (1)
Exhibit Exhibit 1 -- Declaration of David Carroll)(Shults, Steven)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

MATTHEW DICKSON and JENNIFER
DICKSON, each individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated PLAINTIFFS

V. No. 5:16-CV-05027

GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.; GOSPEL FOR

ASIA-INTERNATIONAL; K.P. YOHANNAN;

GISELA PUNNOSE; DANIEL PUNNOSE;

DAVID CARROLL; and PAT EMERICK DEFENDANTS

OPINION AND ORDER

Before the Court is Defendants’ motion (Doc. 23) to compel arbitration and brief in support
(Doc. 24). Plaintiffs filed a response (Doc. 31), and Defendants filed a reply (Doc. 36) with leave
of Court. Defendants argue that contractual arbitration agreements exist between the parties and
that pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, the dispute in this case must be submitted to arbitration
and the case stayed. Plaintiffs argue that both the arbitration agreements and the purported
contracts containing the arbitration agreements fail for lack of consideration and vagueness.
Plaintiffs further argue that even if there is an agreement to arbitrate, this dispute is outside its
scope. Defendants have attached to their motion the purported contracts, each styled as a
“Statement of Agreement,” which contain the arbitration agreements at issue. (Doc. 23-1, pp. 4-
13). These statements of agreement are unsigned by any Defendant or any Defendant’s
representative, but were signed by Plaintiffs when Plaintiffs were members of Defendants’ Texas-
based church, and when Mr. Dickson was an employee of Gospel for Asia, Inc.

Also pending are two motions (Docs. 25 and 27) to dismiss and briefs in support (Docs. 26
and 28) filed by Defendants, a response (Doc. 30) filed by Plaintiffs, and Defendants’ reply

(Doc. 37), filed with leave of Court.
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. Motion to Compel Arbitration

The parties agree that Texas law should be applied to determine whether the statements of
agreement, or the arbitration agreement provisions within, are valid, non-vague contracts between
them. (Doc. 24, pp. 6-7; Doc. 31, p. 5). Texas law requires that “[a]rbitration agreements, like
other contracts, must be supported by consideration.” In re Palm Harbor Homes, Inc., 195 S.W.3d
672, 676 (Tex. 2006). Plaintiffs argue that there is no consideration because the arbitration
agreements in the statements of agreement require performance only from Plaintiffs, and therefore
Plaintiffs’ promises are illusory. Defendants argue that they are bound by the terms of the
arbitration agreement, and even if they are not that the underlying statements of agreement are
supported by adequate consideration—Mr. Dickson’s employment and other benefits received by
both Plaintiffs—to render the arbitration agreements within them enforceable.

The statements of agreement as a whole contain no mutuality of obligation. They are not
contracts. Rather, each comprises a mission statement of the Gospel for Asia church and various
pledges from the signatory, and places no obligation on any Defendant. Any promise of Mr.
Dickson’s continued employment cannot make his statements of agreement valid contracts. J.M.
Davidson, Inc. v. Webster, 128 S.W.3d 223, 228 (Tex. 2003) (citing Light v. Centel Cellular Co.,
883 S.W.2d 642, 645 (Tex. 1994)) (“because at-will employer always retains the option to
discontinue employment at any time, the promise of continued employment is illusory and
insufficient consideration for employee’s promise not to compete.”). Likewise, because
association with a religious organization is also “at-will,” continued membership in the Gospel for
Asia church is insufficient consideration to support a contract, which makes Mrs. Dickson’s
various pledges illusory promises. Although Defendants may have given religious training to

Plaintiffs, including instruction about applying for tax exemptions, and this training might
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generally serve as consideration for a contract, the statements of agreement here do not
contemplate such training and there is no evidence that the parties intended that such training
would be consideration for the purported contract here. The statements of agreement are not
themselves contracts supported by adequate consideration, and do not provide an underlying basis
for enforcing the arbitration agreements.

With respect to the arbitration agreements, the Court finds that these agreements do not
independently contain any mutuality of obligation, and Plaintiffs’ agreement to arbitrate is an
illusory promise. The arbitration agreement in each statement of agreement reads:

| agree that any and all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship between

myself and GFA, or any other GFA member, shall be resolved by way of

conciliation, or mediation, the parties agreeing that the matter will be submitted to

final and binding arbitration in accordance with the rules and procedures set forth

in the Unified Arbitration Act. Accordingly, I knowingly and willingly waive any

and all rights to initiate any action before any administrative agency or court of law

or equity.

(Doc. 23-1, pp. 7, 10, 13). Plaintiffs, as signatories to the statements of agreement, are the only
parties to the arbitration agreements who waive the right to resolve disputes in a manner other than
binding arbitration. Gospel for Asia church makes no such waiver in this agreement. The most
generous possible interpretation of the agreement is that Gospel for Asia agrees that any arbitration
the signatory of the agreement might initiate will be final and binding and take place in accordance
with the rules and procedures set forth in the Uniform Arbitration Act.! That is, one possible
interpretation of the agreement is that, after the signatory submits a dispute to binding arbitration,

Gospel for Asia agrees to abide by the arbiter’s decision. Contract provisions are considered with

reference to the whole instrument, however. J.M. Davidson, Inc., 128 S.W.3d at 229. In this case,

! The reference in the arbitration agreement to a “Unified Arbitration Act” is clearly a
scrivener’s error.
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the whole instrument (the statement of agreement containing the arbitration agreement) is a
mission statement of the Gospel for Asia church and a string of pledges by the signatory.
Considered in this light, the Court is not convinced that it would be reasonable to read this
arbitration agreement as imposing any obligation at all on Gospel for Asia. If the agreement
reasonably can be read as obligating Gospel for Asia to abide by an arbiter’s decision, it still cannot
be read as a waiver of Gospel for Asia’s right to resolve disputes in a manner other than arbitration,
and there is still no mutuality of obligation. Because there is no mutual obligation to arbitrate, the
arbitration agreement is not supported by sufficient consideration and will not be enforced.?

Even if one of these arbitration agreements, or the underlying statement of agreement, were
supported by sufficient consideration, and even pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act’s liberal
policy in favor of arbitration, the claims in this case would not be submitted to arbitration. Where
a valid agreement to arbitrate exists, the Court must consider whether the dispute before it falls
within the scope of the agreement. United Steelworkers of America, AFL-CIO-CLC v. Duluth
Clinic, Ltd., 413 F.3d 786, 788 (8th Cir. 2005). This consideration requires the Court to first
determine whether the arbitration agreement is narrow or broad. Id. The arbitration agreement in
this case is broad, purporting to reach “all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship”
between the parties. (Doc. 23-1, pp. 7, 10, 13). Because the clause is broad, the Court “analyze[s]
whether the dispute relates to the subject matter of the agreement.” United Steelworkers of
America, AFL-CIO-CLC, 413 F.3d at 789. In this case, it does not. As stated above, the agreement

in this case is an employment or membership agreement. It consists of a mission statement of the

2 Because the Court finds that neither the arbitration agreements nor the underlying
statements of agreement are supported by sufficient consideration, and that there is no contract to
arbitrate, the Court will not address Plaintiffs’ argument that the agreements are too vague to be
enforced.
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Gospel for Asia church and a series of pledges by the signatory. None of those pledges or mission
statements reach donations made by the employee/member to the church. The dispute in this case
is not even ancillary to the parties’ relationship as memorialized in the statements of agreement,
but is entirely unrelated to that agreement. Because there is no contractual arbitration agreement,
and because even if there were, the dispute before the Court would be well outside the scope of
that agreement, the Court will not order that this dispute be submitted to arbitration.

1. Motions to Dismiss

Because this litigation will continue in this forum, the Court must now consider the motions
to dismiss. In these motions, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ complaint should be dismissed
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim because Plaintiffs
have not pled their claims with the particularity required by Rule 9(b) or because they have pled
them in such a way that they must fail as a matter of law.

With respect to the Rule 9(b) argument, Plaintiffs correctly argue that their allegations
provide the heightened notice required by that Rule. Plaintiffs’ allegations all involve fraud.
Defendants argue that “Plaintiffs fail to plead with particularity any misrepresentation by GFA
prior to the Dicksons’ 2013 gifts, and accordingly Plaintiffs’ individual fraud claims fail.”
Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges that “GFA claims consistently that ‘100%’ of what a donor gives for
development, relief, and sponsorship abroad will go ‘to the field.”” (Doc. 1, 1 17). Itis reasonable
to infer from this allegation that similar misrepresentations were made to Plaintiffs prior to their
2013 donations. Furthermore, Plaintiffs’ complaint cites to a September 3, 2015 version of the
“about/financial-integrity” section of Defendants’ webpage, www.GFA.org. (Id.). Were any
Defendant to use the Internet Archive “Wayback Machine” link cited in footnote 3 of the complaint

to access earlier versions of that webpage, that Defendant would readily find that the “100%”
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representation was made as early as January 15, 2013. See https://web.archive.org/
web/20130115131400/http://www.gfa.org/about/financial-integrity/, last accessed January 16,
2017 (claiming that “[s]ince the ministry began, we have sent 100% percent [sic] of what you give
toward sponsoring a missionary or child to the field. One hundred percent of contributions for use
on the mission field are sent to the nations we serve . . . . Our administrative costs are covered
through donations designated ‘Home Office’ or sometimes “Where Most Needed.””). Cursory
diligence by Defendants would allow Defendants “to respond specifically and quickly to the
potentially damaging allegations.” See United States ex rel. Costner v. United States, 317 F.3d
883, 888 (8th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted) (explaining the intent of Rule 9(b)’s particularity
requirement). Defendants’ Rule 9(b) argument does not support dismissal of this action.

Turning to Defendants” RICO arguments, with respect to the argument that Plaintiffs have
failed to plead two specific predicate acts for each defendant, the Court’s view of the case at this
stage is that it is one in which “the [specific] facts that would have to be alleged are known to the
defendants, but the plaintiffs have not yet had a chance to find them out.” Abels v. Farmers
Commodities Corp., 259 F.3d 910, 921 (8th Cir. 2001). The allegations in the complaint place the
individual Defendants in positions of authority in the Gospel for Asia church organization, and it
is more than reasonable to infer that they would be involved in the racketeering conduct alleged
by Plaintiffs. If, after discovery, Plaintiffs cannot identify specific acts of misconduct for any
Defendant, summary judgment may be proper at that time. With respect to the argument that
Plaintiffs have described Gospel for Asia, Inc. as both a RICO person and the RICO enterprise,
and that their RICO claim therefore fails on this technicality, dismissal is inappropriate. The Court
agrees with Plaintiffs that Defendants are elevating form over substance in pursuing this argument

on their motion to dismiss because, read as a whole, the complaint’s allegations make clear that
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Gospel for Asia, Inc. was one member of a RICO enterprise consisting of all named Defendants.
Accord Atlas Pile Driving Co. v. DiCon Financial Co., 886 F.2d 986, 995 (8th Cir. 1989)
(explaining how a corporation can be a member of an association in fact that is a RICO enterprise).

Plaintiffs’ complaint is sufficiently pled to overcome the hurdles posed by Defendants’
motions to dismiss, and this case must proceed to discovery.
I11.  Conclusion

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendants’ motion to compel arbitration (Doc. 23)
is DENIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants’ motions to dismiss (Docs. 25 and 27) are
DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED this 18th day of January, 2017.

S T Hethes. Il

P.K. HOLMES, IlI
CHIEF U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE
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To: NEF@arwd.uscourts.gov

Subject: ECF 039 Activity in Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Dickson et al v. Gospel for ASIA, Inc. et al

Order on Motion to Compel

Thisisan automatic e-mail message generated by the CM/ECF system. Please DO NOT RESPOND to
thise-mail because the mail box is unattended.
***NOTE TO PUBLIC ACCESSUSERS*** Thereisno chargefor viewing opinions.
U. S. District Court
Western District of Arkansas

Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered on 1/18/2017 at 11:02 AM CST and filed on 1/18/2017

Case Name: Dickson et a v. Gospel for ASIA, Inc. et a
Case Number: 5:16-cv-05027-PKH
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Document Number: 39
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OPINION AND ORDER denying Motion [23] and denying Motions [25] and [27]. Sighed by
Honorable P. K. Holmes, Ill on January 18, 2017. (rg)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

MATTHEW DICKSON and JENNIFER DICKSON, PLAINTIFFS
Individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated
V. No. 5:16-CV-05027 PKH
GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC,; DEFENDANTS

GOSPEL FOR ASIA-INTERNATIONAL,;
K.P. YOHANNAN; GISELA PUNNOSE;
DANIEL PUNNOSE; DAVID CARROLL;
and PAT EMERICK

NOTICE OF APPEAL

Pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1) and Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure 3(a) and 4(a),
notice is hereby given that Defendants Gospel For Asia, Inc., Gospel for Asia-International,’
K.P. Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat Emerick, Defendants in
the above named case, hereby appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit
from the Opinion and Order of the District Court issued in this action and entered on January 18,
2017, at Docket No. 39. The District Court denied Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration
and Stay Proceeding Pending Arbitration, and the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth
Circuit has interlocutory appellate jurisdiction over that order pursuant to the Federal Arbitration

Act, 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1).

! Gospel for Asia-International does not currently exist.
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DATED: January 25, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

/sl Steven Shults

Debra K. Brown, Ark. Bar No. 80068
dbrown@shultslaw.com

Steven Shults, Ark. Bar No. 78139
sshults@shultslaw.com

SHULTS & BROWN, LLP

200 West Capitol Avenue, Suite 1600
Little Rock, AR 72201-3637
Telephone: (501) 375-2301

Harriet Miers

TX State Bar No. 00000067 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

hmiers@Ilockelord.com

Robert T. Mowrey

TX State Bar No. 14607500 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

rmowrey@]lockelord.com

Paul F. Schuster

TX State Bar No. 00784931 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

pschuster@lockelord.com

Jason L. Sanders

TX State Bar No. 24037428 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

jsanders@lockelord.com

LOCKE LORD LLP

2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 2800

Dallas, Texas 75201-6776

Telephone: (214) 740-8000

Facsimile: (214) 740-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that, on January 25, 2017, | electronically filed the foregoing document with the
Clerk of the Court, to be served by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system on the

attorneys of record.

Woodson W. Bassett 111
whassett@bassettlawfirm.com
James Graves
jgraves@bassettlawfirm.com
BASSETT LAW FIRM LLP
221 North College Avenue
P.O. Box 3618

Fayetteville, Arkansas 72702
Telephone: (479) 521-9996
Facsimile: (479) 521-9600

Tom Mills
tmills@millsandwilliams.com

MILLS & WILLIAMS, LLP

5910 N. Central Expressway, Suite 980
Dallas, Texas 75206

Telephone: (214) 265-9265

Facsimile: (214) 361-3167

Counsel for Plaintiffs & the Class

NOTICE OF APPEAL
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Marc. R. Stanley
marcstanley@mac.com

Martin Woodward
mwoodward@stanleylawgroup.com
STANLEY LAW GROUP

6116 N. Central Expressway, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75206

Telephone: (214) 443-4300

Facsimile: (214) 443-0358

/s/ Steven Shults
Steven Shults
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all documentsfiled electronically, if receipt isrequired by law or directed by thefiler. PACER access fees
apply to all other users. To avoid later charges, download a copy of each document during thisfirst
viewing. However, if thereferenced document isatranscript, the free copy and 30 page limit do not

apply.
U. S. District Court
Western District of Arkansas
Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered by Shults, Steven on 1/25/2017 at 2:56 PM CST and filed on 1/25/2017

Case Name: Dickson et a v. Gospel for ASIA, Inc. et d
Case Number: 5:16-cv-05027-PKH
Filer: Gospel for ASIA, Inc.

Gospel for ASIA-International
Document Number: 40

Docket Text:

NOTICE OF APPEAL as to [39] Order on Motion to Compel, Order on Motion to Dismiss for
Failure to State a Claim,, Order on Motion to Stay, Memorandum Opinion and Order by Gospel
for ASIA, Inc., Gospel for ASIA-International. Filing fee $ 505, receipt number 0861-1457202.
(Shults, Steven)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

MATTHEW DICKSON and JENNIFER DICKSON, PLAINTIFFS
Individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated
V. No. 5:16-CV-05027 PKH
GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC,; DEFENDANTS

GOSPEL FOR ASIA-INTERNATIONAL,;
K.P. YOHANNAN; GISELA PUNNOSE;
DANIEL PUNNOSE; DAVID CARROLL;
and PAT EMERICK

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR STAY OF PROCEEDINGS PENDING APPEAL

Defendants Gospel For Asia, Inc., Gospel for Asia-International,* K.P. Yohannan, Gisela
Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat Emerick, Defendants in the above named case
(“Defendants”), hereby move for an order staying these proceedings pending their appeal as of
right pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1) of the Court’s Order denying Defendants’ motion to compel
arbitration entered on January 18, 2017, at Docket No. 39. As explained in Defendants’ brief in
support filed herewith, a stay is required because the appeal divests the Court of jurisdiction over
matters related to the appeal. In the alternative, Defendants respectfully request the Court to
grant a discretionary stay pending the disposition of the appeal of the Court’s Order denying
Defendants’ motion to compel arbitration.

WHEREFORE, Defendants Gospel For Asia, Inc., Gospel for Asia-International, K.P.
Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat Emerick pray the Court

enter an order acknowledging the proceedings are automatically stayed or, in the alternative,

! Gospel for Asia-International does not currently exist.
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grant a discretionary stay of these proceedings pending appeal of the Court’s Order of
January 18, 2017 (doc. 39) denying Defendants’ motion to compel arbitration.
DATED: January 25, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

/sl Steven Shults

Debra K. Brown, Ark. Bar No. 80068
dbrown@shultslaw.com

Steven Shults, Ark. Bar No. 78139
sshults@shultslaw.com

SHULTS & BROWN, LLP

200 West Capitol Avenue, Suite 1600
Little Rock, AR 72201-3637
Telephone: (501) 375-2301

Harriet Miers

TX State Bar No. 00000067 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

hmiers@Ilockelord.com

Robert T. Mowrey

TX State Bar No. 14607500 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

rmowrey@]lockelord.com

Paul F. Schuster

TX State Bar No. 00784931 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

pschuster@lockelord.com

Jason L. Sanders

TX State Bar No. 24037428 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

jsanders@lockelord.com

LOCKE LORD LLP

2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 2800

Dallas, Texas 75201-6776

Telephone: (214) 740-8000

Facsimile: (214) 740-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS

MOTION TO STAY PENDING APPEAL PAGE 2

Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 180  Date Filed: 02/15/2017 Entry ID: 4502195



Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Document 41

Filed 01/25/17 Page 3 of 3 PagelD #: 360

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that, on January 25, 2017, | electronically filed the foregoing document with the
Clerk of the Court, to be served by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system on the

attorneys of record.

Woodson W. Bassett 111
whassett@bassettlawfirm.com
James Graves
jgraves@bassettlawfirm.com
BASSETT LAW FIRM LLP
221 North College Avenue
P.O. Box 3618

Fayetteville, Arkansas 72702
Telephone: (479) 521-9996
Facsimile: (479) 521-9600

Tom Mills
tmills@millsandwilliams.com

MILLS & WILLIAMS, LLP

5910 N. Central Expressway, Suite 980
Dallas, Texas 75206

Telephone: (214) 265-9265

Facsimile: (214) 361-3167

Counsel for Plaintiffs & the Class
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

MATTHEW DICKSON and JENNIFER DICKSON, PLAINTIFFS
Individually and on behalf of all others similarly
situated
V. No. 5:16-CV-05027 PKH
GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC,; DEFENDANTS

GOSPEL FOR ASIA-INTERNATIONAL,;
K.P. YOHANNAN; GISELA PUNNOSE;
DANIEL PUNNOSE; DAVID CARROLL;
and PAT EMERICK

DEFENDANTS’ BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION
FOR STAY OF PROCEEDINGS PENDING APPEAL

Defendants Gospel For Asia, Inc. (“GFA™), Gospel for Asia-International,® K.P.
Yohannan, Gisela Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat Emerick, Defendants in the
above named case (“Defendants™), file this Brief in Support of their Motion to Stay pending their
appeal of the Court’s Order of January 18, 2017 (Doc. 39), denying Defendants’ motion to
compel arbitration (Doc. 23). See 9 U.S.C. 8§ 16(a)(1) (providing for an immediate appeal of
right from an order denying a motion to compel arbitration). The United States Supreme Court
holds that filing a notice of appeal “confers jurisdiction on the court of appeals and divests the
district court of its control over those aspects of the case involved in the appeal.” Griggs v.
Provident Consumer Disc. Co., 459 U.S. 56, 58 (1982). This holding applies to interlocutory
appeals from orders denying arbitration and mandates a stay of proceedings in the district court
during the time the case is on appeal. See, e.g., Levin v. Alms & Assocs., Inc., 634 F.3d 260, 263,

266 (4th Cir. 2011); Blinco v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, 366 F.3d 1249, 1251-53 (11th Cir.

! Gospel for Asia-International does not currently exist.
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2004); Bradford-Scott Data Corp. v. Physician Computer Network, Inc., 128 F.3d 504, 505-07
(7th Cir. 1997).

BACKGROUND

On April 15, 2016, Defendants moved pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. to compel
arbitration and to stay these proceedings pursuant to a Statement of Agreement (“Agreement”)
with each of the named plaintiffs. Doc. 23. Those Agreements provide: “[A]ny and all disputes
of any kind arising out of the relationship between myself and GFA, or any other GFA member,
shall be resolved by way of conciliation, or mediation, the parties agreeing that the matter will be
submitted to final and binding arbitration in accordance with the rules and procedures set forth in
the Unified Arbitration Act.” Doc. 23 at { 5.

On January 18, 2017, this Court issued an order denying Defendants’ motion to compel
arbitration (“Order”). Doc. 39. On January 25, 2017, Defendants filed a timely notice of appeal
of the Court’s Order pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1) of the Federal Arbitration Act. That statute
provides for an immediate appeal as of right from “an order . . . refusing a stay of any action
under [9 U.S.C. 8 3]” or “denying a petition under [9 U.S.C. § 4] to order arbitration to proceed.”
9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1); see Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle, 556 U.S. 624, 627 (2009) (“By that
provision’s clear and unambiguous terms, any litigant who asks for a stay under § 3 is entitled to
an immediate appeal from denial of that motion—regardless of whether the litigant is in fact
eligible for a stay.”).

ARGUMENT
A. THE FILING OF THE NOTICE OF APPEAL DIVESTED THIS COURT OF JURISDICTION
When Defendants filed their notice of appeal, it had the effect of divesting this Court of

jurisdiction. It is “generally understood that a federal district court and a federal court of appeals
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should not attempt to assert jurisdiction over a case simultaneously.” Griggs, 459 U.S. at 58.
Accordingly, upon the filing of a notice of appeal, jurisdiction moves to the court of appeals and
the district court is divested “of its control over those aspects of the case involved in the appeal.”
Id. The Eighth Circuit observed the Griggs rule serves two purposes. U.S. v. Ledbetter, 882
F.2d 1345, 1347 (8th Cir. 1989). The rule: (1) “promotes judicial economy for it spares a trial
court from considering and ruling on questions that possibly will be mooted by the decision of
the court of appeals”; and (2) “promotes fairness to the parties who might otherwise have to fight
a confusing ‘two front war’ for no good reason.” Id. (internal citation omitted).

Six circuits hold that an appeal of a decision denying arbitration triggers a mandatory stay
of proceedings in the district court. See Levin, 634 F.3d at 263, 266 (4th Cir.); Ehleiter v.
Grapetree Shores, Inc., 482 F.3d 207, 215 n.6 (3d Cir. 2007); McCauley v. Halliburton Energy
Servs., Inc., 413 F.3d 1158, 1160-63 (10th Cir. 2005); Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1251-53 (11th Cir.);
Bombardier Corp. v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp., No. 02-7125, 2002 WL 31818924, at *1 (D.C.
Cir. Dec. 12, 2002); Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 505-07 (7th Cir.). The question in Defendants’
appeal is whether the case should be litigated at all. As a consequence, the entire case is
“involved in the appeal.” Griggs, 459 U.S. at 58.

Griggs controls because “[w]hether the case should be litigated in the district court is not
an issue collateral to the question presented by an appeal under § 16(a)(1)(A),” but rather “is the
mirror image of the question presented on appeal.” Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 505. “Whether
the litigation may go forward in the district court is precisely what the court of appeals must
decide.” Id. at 506. “Continuation of proceedings in the district court largely defeats the point of
the appeal and creates a risk of inconsistent handling of the case by two tribunals.” Id. at 505.

“[T]he underlying reasons for allowing immediate appeal of a denial of a motion to compel

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO STAY PENDING APPEAL PAGE 3

Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 187  Date Filed: 02/15/2017 Entry ID: 4502195



Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Document 42  Filed 01/25/17 Page 4 of 10 PagelD #: 364

arbitration are inconsistent with continuation of proceedings in the district court.” Blinco, 366
F.3d at 1252.

A minority of the circuits conclude that an appeal from the denial of a motion to compel
arbitration does not mandate that the underlying action is stayed. Instead, those courts of appeals
hold that the stay is discretionary. See Weingarten Realty Investors v. Miller, 661 F.3d 904, 907-
08 (5th Cir. 2011); Motorola Credit Corp. v. Uzan, 388 F.3d 39, 53-54 (2d Cir. 2004); Britton v.
Co-op Banking Grp., 916 F.2d 1405, 1412 (9th Cir. 1990). Those courts reason that “[a]n appeal
of a denial of a motion to compel arbitration does not involve the merits of the claims pending in
the district court.” Weingarten, 661 F.3d at 909. This overlooks the entire reason for the appeal,
which is to determine the fundamental question whether the claims should be litigated in the
district court at all. Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 505. The courts taking the minority view also
fear that cases may be stalled by frivolous appeals. See Britton, 916 F.2d at 1412. But, if an
appellee believes the appeal is frivolous, it “may ask the court of appeals to dismiss the appeal as
frivolous or to affirm summarily.” Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 506.

The Eighth Circuit has yet to decide this issue. Nevertheless, federal district courts
sitting in Arkansas have held the mandatory stay applies when a party files a § 16 appeal from an
order refusing to compel arbitration. See, e.g., Koch v. Compucredit Corp., No. 4:06-CV-00660-
WRW, 2007 WL 1793566, at *1 (E.D. Ark. June 19, 2007) (staying discovery and all further
proceedings because an interlocutory appeal of a denial of a motion to compel arbitration
“divests the district court of jurisdiction”); Enderlin v. XM Satellite Radio Holdings, Inc., No.
4:06-CV-0032 GTE, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78083, at *2-3 (E.D. Ark. Oct. 24, 2006) (granting a
mandatory stay pending appeal of the denial of defendant’s motion to compel arbitration); cf.

J.D. Fields & Co. v. Nucor-Yamato Steel Co., Case No. 4:12-CV-00754-KGB, at *1 (E.D. Ark.

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO STAY PENDING APPEAL PAGE 4

Appellate Case: 17-1191 Page: 188  Date Filed: 02/15/2017 Entry ID: 4502195



Case 5:16-cv-05027-PKH Document 42  Filed 01/25/17 Page 5 of 10 PagelD #: 365

Feb. 2, 2016) (declining to determine whether Griggs applied to an appeal from an order refusing
to compel arbitration because the court was granting a discretionary stay).

The great majority of other district courts within the Eighth Circuit agree that an appeal
under 8 16 automatically stays the district court proceedings. See, e.g., Messina v. N. Cent.
Distrib., Inc., No. 14-CV-3101 (PAM/SER), 2015 WL 4479006, at *2 (D. Minn. July 22, 2015);
Unison Co. v. Juhl Energy Dev., Inc., No. 13-3342 ADM/JJK, 2014 WL 2565652, at *2-3 (D.
Minn. June 6, 2014); Wells Enters., Inc. v. Olympic Ice Cream, No. 11-CV-4109-DEO, 2013 WL
11256866, at *6-8 (N.D. lowa Jan. 31, 2013); Indus. Wire Prods., Inc. v. Costco Wholesale
Corp., No. 4:08-CV-70 CAS, 2008 WL 2906716, at *1 (E.D. Mo. July 24, 2008); Express
Scripts, Inc. v. Aegon Direct Mktg. Servs., Inc., No. 4:06-CV-1410 CAS, 2007 WL 1040938, at
*3 (E.D. Mo. Apr. 3, 2007); cf. Union Elec. Co. v. Aegis Energy Syndicate 1225, No. 4:12CV877
JCH, 2012 WL 4936572, at *1-2 (E.D. Mo. Oct. 17, 2012) (granting a stay without deciding
whether stay was mandatory or discretionary); but cf. Bailey v. Ameriquest Mortg. Co., No. CIV.
01-545 (JRT/FLN), 2002 WL 1835642, at *1 (D. Minn. Aug. 5, 2002).? A minority court, early
in the circuit split, determined that substantial deference required the court to affirm a
magistrate’s order refusing to grant a stay. Hormel Foods Corp. v. Cereol, S.A., No. Civ. 01-
2243 (JRT/FLN), 2003 WL 21402601, at *1 (D. Minn. June 16, 2003).

Although the Eighth Circuit has not addressed the stay question under a 816(a)(1) appeal,
it has held that Griggs requires a stay in the similar situation of an interlocutory appeal involving

qualified immunity. See Johnson v. Hay, 931 F.2d 456, 459 n.2 (8th Cir. 1991) (holding that

2 Without deciding the fundamental stay issue, the Bailey court refused to stay an order
compelling discovery of basic information such as names, addresses, telephone numbers, dates
of employment, etc. 2002 WL 1835642, at *1. The court concluded this information likely
would be discoverable in arbitration. 1d. This decision stands in contrast to other district courts
that stayed discovery. See Indus. Wire, 2008 WL 2906716, at *1; Koch, 2007 WL 1793566, at
*1; Express Scripts, 2007 WL 1040938, at *3.
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once a notice of appeal is filed following denial of a summary judgment motion asserting
qualified immunity, the district court must stay further proceedings because “[j]urisdiction has
been vested in the court of appeals. . . .”). Courts have found “interlocutory appeals on the basis
of the denial of qualified immunity” to be “similar to § 16(a) appeals” because “the failure to
grant a stay pending either type of appeal results in a denial or impairment of the appellant’s
ability to obtain its legal entitlement to avoidance of litigation. . . .” McCauley, 413 F.3d at
1162; accord Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1252.

This Court should hold, like the majority of the circuit courts and like many of its fellow
district courts within the Eighth Circuit, that an appeal from an order refusing to compel
arbitration divests the district court of jurisdiction and automatically stays the case while the
appeal is pending.

B.  INTHE ALTERNATIVE, THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT A DISCRETIONARY STAY

Should this Court decide the Eighth Circuit would agree with the minority view so that
Defendants’ appeal would not cause an automatic stay of this case, the Court should nevertheless
grant a discretionary stay.

A stay is warranted here because “[a]rbitration clauses reflect the parties’ preference for
non-judicial dispute resolution. . . .” Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 506. “These benefits are
eroded . . . if it is necessary to proceed in both judicial and arbitral forums. . . .” 1d. It is the
“worst possible outcome” if the parties have to litigate the case only to have the court of appeals
reverse and order arbitration. Id.

The Eighth Circuit has strongly indicated that stays of trial court proceedings should be
granted while a decision denying arbitration is being appealed. Ritzel Commc’ns, Inc. v. Mid-

Am. Cellular Tel. Co., 989 F.2d 966, 970-71 (1993). In that case, the party seeking arbitration
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had failed to request a stay in the district court during the time it was appealing a denial of its
motion to compel arbitration. Id. at 968. During the appeal, the case was tried in a six-day
bench trial. I1d. In determining the party had waived its arbitration rights, the Eighth Circuit
insisted the party should have sought a stay:

We have, on numerous occasions, entertained motions to stay proceedings in the

district court pending appeal of a district court’s determination of arbitrability.

See, e.g., Flink v. Carlson, 856 F.2d 44, 47 (8th Cir.1988); Cox v. Piper, Jaffray

& Hopwood, Inc., 848 F.2d 842, 843 (8th Cir.1988); Brotherhood of Painters v.

Lord & Burnham Constr. Corp., 705 F.2d 998, 999 n. 1 (8th Cir.1983); see also S

& M Constructors, Inc. v. Foley Co., 959 F.2d 97 (8th Cir.) (granting oral

argument on a motion for a stay of arbitration pending appeal), cert. denied, 506

U.S. 863, 113 S. Ct. 184, 121 L. Ed. 2d 129 (1992).

Id. at 970; see also Order dated Dec. 2, 2015 in McLeod v. General Mills, Inc., No. 15-3540 (8th
Cir. argued Nov. 16, 2016) (granting stay following district court’s denial of stay pending § 16
appeal); Minute Order dated Dec. 23, 2005 in Sadler v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, No. 05-3850,
466 F.3d 623 (8th Cir. 2006) (granting appellant’s motion for stay of district court proceedings
pending appeal and denying appellees’ motion for permission to proceed with discovery);
Minute Order dated April 5, 2000 in Larry’s United Super, Inc. v. Werries, No. 99-3202, 253
F.3d 1083 (8th Cir. 2001) (granting appellants’ motion to stay district court proceedings). As the
Eighth Circuit pointed out, arbitration clauses “are designed to resolve disputes without costly
litigation.” Ritzel, 989 F.2d at 970.

There is no reason in this case to refuse to grant a stay. Courts recognize that, so long as
the appeal is not frivolous, a stay pending appeal should be granted. McCauley, 413 F.3d at
1160-62; Blinco, 366 F.3d at 1252; Bradford-Scott, 128 F.3d at 506. Certainly, the appeal in this
case is far from frivolous.

There is no question that the Agreements with GFA contain arbitration clauses calling for

the arbitration of “any and all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship between [the
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named plaintiffs] and GFA.” Doc. 23 at § 5. This Court concluded that the arbitration
agreements lacked mutuality of obligation and that this case did not fall within the scope of the
agreements. Order (Doc. 39), at pp. 3-5. But these two issues are subject to substantive debate.
The Agreements state “the parties agreeing that the matter will be submitted to final and binding
arbitration. . . .” Doc. 23 at 1 5. This language should be construed to be a mutual promise to
arbitrate, making the agreement enforceable. J.M. Davidson, Inc. v. Webster, 128 S.W.3d 223,
228 (Tex. 2003) (“mutual promises to submit ... disputes to arbitration constituted sufficient
consideration, because both parties [a]re bound to the promises to arbitrate.”) (internal citation
omitted).

On the second issue, this Court acknowledged the arbitration agreement is broad. Order
at p. 4. “Doubts regarding an agreement’s scope are resolved in favor of arbitration because
there is a presumption favoring agreements to arbitrate under the FAA.” In re Kellogg Brown &
Root, Inc., 166 S.W.3d 732, 737 (Tex. 2005) (internal citations omitted). The agreements state
that “all disputes of any kind arising out of the relationship” between the named plaintiffs and
GFA are subject to arbitration. Doc. 23. This dispute arose out of the relationship between the
named plaintiffs and GFA.

The appeal in this case is not frivolous. Accordingly, even if the Court concludes that the
Eighth Circuit would not hold the automatic stay applies, this Court should grant a discretionary
stay pending the appeal of the order refusing to compel arbitration.

CONCLUSION

Defendants Gospel For Asia, Inc., Gospel for Asia-International, K.P. Yohannan, Gisela

Punnose, Daniel Punnose, David Carroll, and Pat Emerick pray the Court enter an order

acknowledging the proceedings are automatically stayed or, in the alternative, grant a
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discretionary stay of these proceedings pending appeal of the Court’s Order of January 18, 2017
(Doc. 39) denying Defendants’ motion to compel arbitration.
DATED: January 25, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

/sl Steven Shults

Debra K. Brown, Ark. Bar No. 80068
dbrown@shultslaw.com

Steven Shults, Ark. Bar No. 78139
sshults@shultslaw.com

SHULTS & BROWN, LLP

200 West Capitol Avenue, Suite 1600
Little Rock, AR 72201-3637
Telephone: (501) 375-2301

Harriet Miers

TX State Bar No. 00000067 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

hmiers@Ilockelord.com

Robert T. Mowrey

TX State Bar No. 14607500 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

rmowrey@]lockelord.com

Paul F. Schuster

TX State Bar No. 00784931 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

pschuster@lockelord.com

Jason L. Sanders

TX State Bar No. 24037428 (Admitted pro
hac vice)

jsanders@lockelord.com

LOCKE LORD LLP

2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 2800

Dallas, Texas 75201-6776

Telephone: (214) 740-8000

Facsimile: (214) 740-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that, on January 25, 2017, | electronically filed the foregoing document with the
Clerk of the Court, to be served by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system on the

attorneys of record.

Woodson W. Bassett 111
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION
MATTHEW DICKSON and JENNIFER
DICKSON, each individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated PLAINTIFFS
V. No. 5:16-CV-05027
GOSPEL FOR ASIA, INC.; GOSPEL FOR
ASIA-INTERNATIONAL; K.P. YOHANNAN;
GISELA PUNNOSE; DANIEL PUNNOSE;
DAVID CARROLL; and PAT EMERICK DEFENDANTS
ORDER

Before the Court is Defendants’ motion (Doc. 41) to stay these proceedings pending
appeal.! Defendants have filed a brief in support (Doc. 42), Plaintiffs have filed a response
(Doc. 45), and Defendants have filed a reply (Doc. 47). The motion to stay will be denied.

Pursuant to 9 U.S.C. § 16, Defendants filed a notice of appeal (Doc. 40) on January 25,
2017. The Court of Appeals has docketed the case and the appeal scheduling order (Doc. 44) was
entered on this Court’s docket on January 27, 2017. Defendants appeal the Court’s order (Doc. 39)
denying their motion to compel arbitration. Defendants argue that the notice of appeal divests this
Court of jurisdiction over aspects of the case involved in the appeal such that a stay is mandatory,
and in the alternative argue that the Court should grant a discretionary stay.

The Eighth Circuit does not appear to have ruled on whether an interlocutory appeal of an
order denying a motion to compel arbitration divests a district court of jurisdiction to continue with

the adjudication on the merits of the lawsuit, and there is a circuit split on this issue. The issue of

whether a stay is mandatory in this case stems from Supreme Court precedent. In Griggs v.

! The case on appeal is Dickson v. Gospel for ASIA, Inc., Case Number 17-1191 (8th Cir.
Jan. 27, 2017).
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Provident Consumer Discount Co., 459 U.S. 56, 58 (1982), the Court held that “[t]he filing of a
notice of appeal is an event of jurisdictional significance—it confers jurisdiction on the court of
appeals and divests the district court of its control over those aspects of the case involved in the
appeal.” Defendants cite to opinions from other circuits that have considered whether the merits
of a case are involved in the appeal of an order denying a motion to compel arbitration, given
Griggs a broad interpretation, and held that a stay is mandatory. See Levin v. Alms & Assocs., Inc.,
634 F.3d 260, 263, 266 (4th Cir. 2011); Ehleiter v. Grapetree Shores, Inc., 482 F.3d 207, 215 n.6
(3d Cir. 2007); McCauley v. Halliburton Energy Servs., Inc., 413 F.3d 1158, 1160-63 (10th Cir.
2005); Blinco v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, 366 F.3d 1249, 1251-53, (11th Cir. 2004); Bradford-
Scott Data Corp. v. Physician Computer Network, Inc., 128 F.3d 504, 505-07 (7th Cir. 1997); see
also Bombardier Corp. v. Nat’l R.R. Passenger Corp., No. 02-7125, 2002 WL 31818924 (D.C.
Cir. Dec. 12, 2002) (per curium) (holding with minimal analysis that a stay is mandatory).
Plaintiffs cite to circuit court opinions reading Griggs more narrowly and holding that a stay is not
mandatory. See Weingarten Realty Investors v. Miller, 661 F.3d 904, 906 (5th Cir. 2011);
Motorola Credit Corp., 388 F.3d 39, 54 (2d Cir. 2009); Britton v. Co-op Banking Group, 916 F.2d
1405, 1412 (9th Cir. 1990).

Having reviewed the cases, and following the reasoning in McLeod v. General Mills, Inc.,
Civil No. 15-494, 2015 WL 7428548 (D. Minn. Nov. 20, 2015), the Court agrees with Plaintiffs
that the Court’s jurisdiction over the merits of this case is not divested by the appeal, and therefore
that a stay is neither mandatory nor automatic. “The Court does not doubt that it is prohibited from
relitigating the literal question on appeal, nor does it doubt that appeal of certain constitutional
first-order jurisdictional questions automatically halts further district court litigation . . . But there

IS no reason to suggest that arbitration clauses—matters of private contract—are of the same
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significance as the Constitution’s limitations involving double jeopardy and sovereign immunity.”
McLeod, 2015 WL 7428548 at *2.

The aspect of this case involved in the appeal is whether or not the parties entered a valid
arbitration agreement (this Court has ruled that they did not), and if they did, whether or not the
dispute between them falls within the scope of that agreement (this Court has ruled that it does
not). Whether or not an arbitration agreement exists, and whether or not this dispute is within the
scope of that agreement, does not involve the merits of the dispute. Instead, the questions on
appeal in this case are severable from the merits, which remain pending in this Court. Accord
Moses H. Cone Mem’l Hosp. v. Mercury Const. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 21 (1983) (calling the issue of
arbitrability as “easily severable from the merits of the underlying disputes”). No statute or
Supreme Court precedent mandates stay in this case, and this Court does not believe the Eighth
Circuit Court of Appeals would follow those circuits that have created such a requirement. This
is not to say that the policy considerations relied on by those circuits that require mandatory stay
are immaterial. In this Court’s view, however, these are not considerations that necessitate a bright
line rule divesting a district court of jurisdiction, but instead are factors that may be considered
during the discretionary stay analysis, which directs the Court to consider:

(1) the likelihood that a party seeking the stay will prevail on the merits of the

appeal; (2) the likelihood that the moving party will be irreparably harmed absent

a stay; (3) the prospect that others will be harmed if the court grants the stay; and

(4) the public interest in granting the stay.
lowa Utils. Bd. v. FCC, 109 F.3d 418, 423 (8th Cir. 1996). Though there would be benefits to a
bright line rule, the Court is not convinced the Eighth Circuit would adopt such a rule where the
discretionary stay analysis already accounts for factors cited in support of a mandatory stay.

Turning to the issue of whether the Court should grant a discretionary stay, the Court finds

that the factors do not support a stay. Though the appeal is not clearly frivolous, for the reasons
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set out when the Court denied the motion on appeal, Defendants are not likely to prevail on the
merits of their appeal. There is no arbitration agreement to enforce, and even if there were, this
dispute is clearly outside of its scope. This is the most important factor the Court considers when
determining whether to stay a case. Brady v. Nat’l Football League, 640 F.3d 785, 789 (8th Cir.
2011). This factor weighs against a stay.

The threat of irreparable harm to Defendants does not weigh in favor of a stay. Defendants
identify the potential harm of having to litigate in this Court, only to begin again in arbitration if
they succeed on appeal. While this consequence might be “irreparable,” Defendants have not
shown that it is a harm at this stage of litigation. This case is still in the discovery stage, and
assuming Defendants succeed on appeal, any information obtained will be no less helpful in
arbitration than it will be in this Court. The only foreseeable “harm” of discovery in this forum is
that it might reveal that Defendants have, in fact, committed fraud against Plaintiffs and the
purported class. This is not the kind of harm a stay is intended to prevent. Furthermore, the harm
to Defendants of being deprived of their chosen forum is minimal at this early stage of litigation.

The potential harm to Plaintiffs weighs against a stay. While this litigation has been
pending, it remains in its early stages and is likely to continue for some time. A short stay likely
would not harm Plaintiffs, but a longer stay would operate to deprive them of timely resolution of
the merits of their case. Because this Court has no control over appellate dockets or calendars, the
risk of harm a stay poses to Plaintiffs and putative class members is substantial.

The public interest weighs heavily against staying this matter. It is certainly the case that
the Federal Arbitration Act’s liberal preference for arbitration would favor a stay if Defendants
were more likely to succeed on the merits of their appeal. However, the gravity of Plaintiffs’

allegations—that between 2003 and 2014, Defendants fraudulently solicited $700,000,000 in
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donations from putative class members, and that Defendants continue to fraudulently solicit such
donations—and the publicity generated by those allegations give rise to a strong public interest in
resolving the merits of this dispute. Having weighed all of these factors, the Court finds that a stay
is not warranted at this time.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendants’ motion to stay proceedings pending
appeal (Doc. 41) is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED this 8th day of February, 2017.

S T Hethpes. Il

P.K. HOLMES, IlI
CHIEF U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE
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